1st Session

WORKING FAMILIES TAX RELIEF ACT OF 2004

Xxxx (legislative of	day, Xxxx), 2004.—	-Ordered to be printed

Mr. Grassley, from the committee of conference, submitted the following

CONFERENCE REPORT

[To accompany H.R. 1308]

The committee of conference on the disagreeing votes of the two Houses on the amendment of the Senate to the bill (H.R. 1308) to amend and accelerate certain family related tax benefits and amend other provisions, having met, after full and free conference, have agreed to recommend and do recommend to their respective Houses as follows:

That the House recede from its disagreement to the amendment of the Senate and agree to the same with an amendment as follows:

In lieu of the matter proposed to be inserted by the Senate amendment, insert the following:

Contents

	<u>P</u>	<u>'age</u>
I. EXT	TENSION OF CERTAIN EXPIRING PROVISIONS	1
A.	Extension of the Child Tax Credit, Acceleration of Refundability of the Child Tax Credit and Treatment of Combat Pay as Earned Income for Purposes of the Child Tax Credit and Earned Income Credit (secs. 101-104 of the conference agreement, sec. 101 of the House bill, secs. 101-103 of the Senate amendment, and sec. 24 and 32 of the Code)	1
В.	Extend Marriage Penalty Relief (sec. 101 of the conference agreement and secs. 1 and 63 of the Code)	4
C.	Extend Size of 10-Percent Rate Bracket for Individuals (sec. 101 of the conference agreement and sec. 1 of the Code)	8
D.	Extend Alternative Minimum Tax Exemption for Individuals (sec. 103 of the conference agreement and sec. 55 of the Code)	9
II. PR	OVISIONS RELATING TO THE MILITARY	. 11
A.	Exclusion of Gain on Sale of a Principal Residence by a Member of the Uniformed Services or the Foreign Service (sec. 201 of the House bill and sec. 121 of the Code)	. 11
B.	Exclusion from Gross Income of Certain Death Gratuity Payments (sec. 202 of the House bill and sec. 134 of the Code)	
C.	Exclusion for Amounts Received Under Department of Defense Homeowners Assistance Program (sec. 203 of the House bill and sec. 132 of the Code)	
D.	Expansion of Combat Zone Filing Rules to Contingency Operations (sec. 204 of the House bill and sec. 7508 of the Code)	. 14
E.	Modification of Membership Requirement for Exemption from Tax for Certain Veterans' Organizations (sec. 205 of the House bill and sec. 501(c)(19) of the Code)	. 17
F.	Clarification of Treatment of Certain Dependent Care Assistance Programs Provided to Members of the Uniformed Services of the United States (sec. 206 of the House bill and sec. 134 of the Code)	
G.	Treatment of Service Academy Appointments as Scholarships for Purposes of Qualified Tuition Programs and Coverdell Education Savings Accounts (sec. 207 of the House bill and secs. 529 and 530 of the Code)	
H.	Above-the-Line Deduction for Overnight Travel Expenses of National Guard and Reserve Members (sec. 208 of the House bill and sec. 162 of the Code)	
I.	Suspension of Tax-Exempt Status of Terrorist Organizations (sec. 301 of the House bill and sec. 501 of the Code)	. 21
J.	Extension of Certain Tax Relief Provisions to Astronauts (sec. 401 of the House bill and secs. 101, 692, and 2201 of the Code)	

Page

Q.	Accelerated Depreciation for Business Property on Indian Reservations	
	(sec. 316 of the conference agreement and sec. 168(j) of the Code)	. 55
R.	Disclosure of Return Information Relating to Student Loans (sec. 317 of the	
	conference agreement and sec. 6103(1)(13) of the Code)	56
S.	Credit for Qualified Electric Vehicles (sec. 318 of the conference agreement and	
	sec. 30 of the Code)	56
T.	Deduction for Qualified Clean-Fuel Vehicle Property (sec. 319 of the conference	
	agreement and sec. 179A of the Code)	. 57
U.	Disclosures Relating to Terrorist Activities (sec. 320 of the conference agreement	
	and sec. 6103 of the Code)	. 58
V.	Extension of Archer Medical Savings Accounts ("MSAs") (sec. 322 of the	
	conference agreement and sec. 220 of the Code)	60
W.	Extension of Joint Review of Strategic Plans and Budget for the Internal Revenue	
	Service (sec. 321 of the conference agreement and secs. 8021 and 8022 of the Code)	62
VI. TA	AX TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS (secs. 401-408 of the conference agreement)	64
VII. T	AX COMPLEXITY ANALYSIS	. 73
,,		
	1. Modifications to the child tax credit and earned income credit (secs. 101, 102, 103,	
	and 104 of the conference agreement)	. 73
	2. Expansion of the 15-percent rate bracket (sec. 101 of the conference agreement)	. 74
	3. Standard deduction tax relief (sec. 101 of the conference agreement)	. 74
	4. Ten-percent income tax rate for individuals (sec. 101 of the conference agreement).	. 75
	5. Uniform definition of qualifying child (secs. 201-207 of the conference agreement)	. 75

I. EXTENSION OF CERTAIN EXPIRING PROVISIONS

A. Extension of the Child Tax Credit, Acceleration of Refundability of the Child Tax Credit and Treatment of Combat Pay as Earned Income for Purposes of the Child Tax Credit and Earned Income Credit (secs. 101-104 of the conference agreement, sec. 101 of the House bill, secs. 101-103 of the Senate amendment, and sec. 24 and 32 of the Code)

Present Law

In general

For 2004, an individual may claim a \$1,000 tax credit for each qualifying child under the age of 17. In general, a qualifying child is an individual for whom the taxpayer can claim a dependency exemption and who is the taxpayer's son or daughter (or descendent of either), stepson or stepdaughter (or descendent of either), or eligible foster child.

The child tax credit is scheduled to revert to \$700 in 2005, and then, over several years, increase to \$1,000.

Table 1, below, shows the scheduled amount of the child tax credit.

Table 1.—Scheduled Amount of the Child Tax Credit

Taxable Year	Credit Amount Per Child
2003-2004	\$1,000
2005-2008	\$700
2009	\$800
2010 ¹	\$1,000

¹ The credit reverts to \$500 in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, under the sunset provision of EGTRRA (the "Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001," Pub. L. No. 107-16).

The child tax credit is phased out for individuals with income over certain thresholds. Specifically, the otherwise allowable child tax credit is reduced by \$50 for each \$1,000 (or fraction thereof) of modified adjusted gross income over \$75,000 for single individuals or heads of households, \$110,000 for married individuals filing joint returns, and \$55,000 for married individuals filing separate returns. ¹ The length of the phase-out range depends on the number of

¹ Modified adjusted gross income is the taxpayer's total gross income plus certain amounts excluded from gross income (i.e., excluded income of U.S. citizens or residents living

qualifying children. For example, the phase-out range for a single individual with one qualifying child is between \$75,000 and \$95,000 of modified adjusted gross income. The phase-out range for a single individual with two qualifying children is between \$75,000 and \$115,000.

The amount of the tax credit and the phase-out ranges are not adjusted annually for inflation.

Refundability

For 2004, the child credit is refundable to the extent of 10 percent of the taxpayer's taxable earned income (which is taken into account in determining taxable income) in excess of \$10,750.² The percentage is increased to 15 percent for taxable years 2005 and thereafter. Families with three or more children are allowed a refundable credit for the amount by which the taxpayer's social security taxes exceed the taxpayer's earned income credit, if that amount is greater than the refundable credit based on the taxpayer's taxable earned income in excess of \$10,750 (for 2004). The refundable portion of the child credit does not constitute income and is not treated as resources for purposes of determining eligibility or the amount or nature of benefits or assistance under any Federal program or any State or local program financed with Federal funds. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, the sunset provision of EGTRRA applies to the 15-percent rule for allowing refundable child credits.

Alternative minimum tax liability

The child credit is allowed against the individual's regular income tax and alternative minimum tax. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, the sunset provision of EGTRRA applies to the rules allowing the child credit against the alternative minimum tax.

House Bill

The bill increases the credit to \$1,000 for taxable years 2005-2009. Therefore, the maximum child credit is \$1,000 per child for taxable years 2003-2010.³ The bill also accelerates to 2003 the increase in refundability of the child credit to 15 percent of the taxpayer's earned income in excess of \$10,500 (with indexing). Finally, the bill provides that the beginning point of the phase-out range for the child credit is \$150,000 for married individuals filing joint returns (\$75,000 for unmarried individuals and married individuals filing separately) for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2002, and before January 1, 2011. All modifications to the child credit under the bill are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

abroad (sec. 911); residents of Guam, American Samoa, and the Northern Mariana Islands (sec. 931); and residents of Puerto Rico (sec. 933)).

² The \$10,750 amount is indexed for inflation.

³ The credit reverts to \$500 in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, under the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after December 31, 2002.

Senate Amendment

The Senate amendment accelerates to 2003 the increase in refundability of the child credit to 15 percent of the taxpayer's earned income in excess of \$10,500 (with indexing). The Senate amendment also provides that taxpayers eligible for such additional refundable child credit amount will receive this additional amount as an advance payment. No advance payments may be made after December 31, 2003. Also, the Senate amendment provides that the beginning point of the phase-out range for the credit for married individuals filing joint returns is increased to \$115,000 in 2008 and 2009 and \$150,000 in 2010. It also provides that the beginning point for such phase-out range in the case of unmarried individuals and married individuals filing separately will be one-half of the beginning point of the phase-out range for married individuals filing joint returns for taxable years beginning in 2008 through 2010. Finally, the Senate amendment provides that any amount excluded from gross income under section 112 of the Code (relating to certain combat zone compensation) is treated as earned income for purposes of the calculation of the child tax credit. All modifications to the child credit under the Senate amendment are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2002.

Conference Agreement

In general

The conference agreement increases the child credit to \$1,000 for taxable years 2005-2009. Therefore, the maximum child tax credit is \$1,000 per child for taxable years 2005-2010. All modifications to the child credit under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.⁴

Refundability

The conference agreement accelerates to 2004 the increase in refundability of the child credit to 15 percent of the taxpayer's earned income in excess of \$10,750 (with indexing).

Combat pay treated as earned income

The conference agreement provides that combat pay that is otherwise excluded from gross income under section 112 is treated as earned income which is taken into account in computing taxable income for purposes of calculating the refundable portion of the child credit.

 $^{^4\,}$ The credit reverts to \$500 in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, under the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

The conference agreement provides that any taxpayer may elect to treat combat pay that is otherwise excluded from gross income under section 112 as earned income for purposes of the earned income credit. This election is available with respect to any taxable year ending after the date of enactment and before January 1, 2006.

Effective dates

The provision generally applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004. The provision relating to the acceleration of the refundability of the child credit applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003. The provision relating to the treatment of combat pay as earned income for purposes of the child credit is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003. The earned income credit election is effective for taxable years ending after the date of enactment and before January 1, 2006.

B. Extend Marriage Penalty Relief (sec. 101 of the conference agreement and secs. 1 and 63 of the Code)

1. Standard deduction marriage penalty relief (sec. 63 of the Code)

Present Law

Marriage penalty

A married couple generally is treated as one tax unit that must pay tax on the couple's total taxable income. Although married couples may elect to file separate returns, the rate schedules and other provisions are structured so that filing separate returns usually results in a higher tax than filing a joint return. Other rate schedules apply to single persons and to single heads of households.

A "marriage penalty" exists when the combined tax liability of a married couple filing a joint return is greater than the sum of the tax liabilities of each individual computed as if they were not married. A "marriage bonus" exists when the combined tax liability of a married couple filing a joint return is less than the sum of the tax liabilities of each individual computed as if they were not married.

Basic standard deduction

Taxpayers who do not itemize deductions may choose the basic standard deduction (and additional standard deductions, if applicable),⁵ which is subtracted from adjusted gross income ("AGI") in arriving at taxable income. The size of the basic standard deduction varies according

⁵ Additional standard deductions are allowed with respect to any individual who is elderly (age 65 or over) or blind.

to filing status and is adjusted annually for inflation. In general, two unmarried individuals have standard deductions whose sum exceeds the standard deduction for a married couple filing a joint return. EGTRRA increased the basic standard deduction for a married couple filing a joint return, providing for a phase-in of the increase until the basic standard deduction for a married couple filing a joint return equaled twice the basic standard deduction for an unmarried individual filing a single return by 2009. The Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 ("JGTRRA") accelerated the phase-in, providing that the basic standard deduction for a married couple filing a joint return equaled twice the basic standard deduction for an unmarried individual filing a single return for 2003 and 2004, reverting to the phase-in schedule provided by EGTRAA for 2005-2009.

Table 2, below, shows the standard deduction for married couples filing a joint return as a percentage of the standard deduction for single individuals during the phase-in period.

Table 2.—Scheduled Amount of the Basic Standard Deduction for Married Couples Filing Joint Returns

Taxable Year	Standard Deduction for Married Couples Filing Joint Returns as Percentage of Standard Deduction for Unmarried Individual Returns
2005	174
2006	184
2007	187
2008	190
2009 and 2010 ¹	200

¹ The basic standard deduction increases are repealed for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, under the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

⁶ For 2004 the basic standard deduction amounts are: (1) \$4,850 for unmarried individuals; (2) \$9,700 for married individuals filing a joint return; (3) \$7,150 for heads of households; and (4) \$4,850 for married individuals filing separately.

⁷ The basic standard deduction for a married taxpayer filing separately will continue to equal one-half of the basic standard deduction for a married couple filing jointly; thus, the basic standard deduction for unmarried individuals filing a single return and for married couples filing separately will be the same after the phase-in period.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement increases the basic standard deduction amount for joint returns to twice the basic standard deduction amount for single returns effective for 2005-2008. Therefore, the basic standard deduction for joint returns is twice the basic standard deduction for single returns for taxable years 2005-2010. All modifications to the basic standard deduction under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The conference agreement provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004.

2. Increase the size of the 15-percent rate bracket for married couples filing joint returns (sec. 1 of the Code)

Present Law

In general

Under the Federal individual income tax system, an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States generally is subject to tax on worldwide taxable income. Taxable income is total gross income less certain exclusions, exemptions, and deductions. An individual may claim either a standard deduction or itemized deductions.

An individual's income tax liability is determined by computing his or her regular income tax liability and, if applicable, alternative minimum tax liability.

Regular income tax liability

Regular income tax liability is determined by applying the regular income tax rate schedules (or tax tables) to the individual's taxable income and then is reduced by any applicable tax credits. The regular income tax rate schedules are divided into several ranges of income, known as income brackets, and the marginal tax rate increases as the individual's income increases. The income bracket amounts are adjusted annually for inflation. Separate rate schedules apply based on filing status: single individuals (other than heads of households and surviving spouses), heads of households, married individuals filing joint returns (including surviving spouses), married individuals filing separate returns, and estates and trusts. Lower rates may apply to capital gains.

In general, the bracket breakpoints for single individuals are approximately 60 percent of the rate bracket breakpoints for married couples filing joint returns. The rate bracket breakpoints for married individuals filing separate returns are exactly one-half of the rate brackets for married individuals filing joint returns. A separate, compressed rate schedule applies to estates and trusts.

15-percent regular income tax rate bracket

EGTRRA increased the size of the 15-percent regular income tax rate bracket for a married couple filing a joint return to twice the size of the corresponding rate bracket for a single individual filing a single return, phasing in the increase over four years, beginning in 2005. JGTRRA accelerated these increases, making the size of the 15-percent regular income tax rate bracket for a married couple filing a joint return equal to twice the size of the corresponding rate bracket for a single individual filing a single return for taxable years beginning in 2003 and 2004. For taxable years beginning after 2004, the applicable percentages will revert to those provided by EGTRRA. Table 3, below, shows the size of the 15-percent bracket during the phase-in period.

Table 3.—Scheduled Size of the 15-Percent Rate Bracket for Married Couples Filing Joint Returns

Taxable year	End Point of 15-Percent Rate Bracket for Married Couples Filing Joint Returns as Percentage of End Point of 15-Percent Rate Bracket for Unmarried Individuals
2005	180
2006	187
2007	193
2008 through 2010 ¹	200

¹ The increases in the 15-percent rate bracket for married couples filing a joint return are repealed for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, under the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

House Bill

No provision.

⁸ Under present law, the rate bracket breakpoint for the 35-percent marginal tax rate is the same for single individuals and married couples filing joint returns.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement increases the size of the 15-percent rate bracket for joint returns to twice the size of the corresponding rate bracket for single returns effective for 2005-2007. Therefore, the size of the 15-percent rate bracket for joint returns is twice the size of the corresponding rate bracket for single returns for taxable years 2005-2010. The modification to the 15-percent rate bracket under the conference agreement is subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The conference agreement provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004.

C. Extend Size of 10-Percent Rate Bracket for Individuals (sec. 101 of the conference agreement and sec. 1 of the Code)

Present Law

In general

Under the Federal individual income tax system, an individual who is a citizen or a resident of the United States generally is subject to tax on worldwide taxable income. Taxable income is total gross income less certain exclusions, exemptions, and deductions. An individual may claim either a standard deduction or itemized deductions.

An individual's income tax liability is determined by computing his or her regular income tax liability and, if applicable, alternative minimum tax liability.

Regular income tax liability

Regular income tax liability is determined by applying the regular income tax rate schedules (or tax tables) to the individual's taxable income. This tax liability is then reduced by any applicable tax credits. The regular income tax rate schedules are divided into several ranges of income, known as income brackets, and the marginal tax rate increases as the individual's income increases. The income bracket amounts are adjusted annually for inflation. Separate rate schedules apply based on filing status: single individuals (other than heads of households and surviving spouses), heads of households, married individuals filing joint returns (including surviving spouses), married individuals filing separate returns, and estates and trusts. Lower rates may apply to capital gains.

Ten-percent regular income tax rate

EGTRRA created a new 10-percent rate that applied to the first \$6,000 of taxable income for single individuals, \$10,000 of taxable income for heads of households, and \$12,000 for married couples filing joint returns, and provided a scheduled increase effective beginning in

2008 under which the \$6,000 amount would increase to \$7,000 and the \$12,000 amount would increase to \$14,000, with such amounts adjusted annually for inflation for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2008. JGTRRA accelerated the scheduled increases to 2003 and 2004 (with indexing). For 2004, the size of the 10-percent bracket for single individuals is \$7,150 (\$14,300 for married individuals filing a joint return). For 2005-2010, the size of the 10-percent bracket reverts to the levels provided under EGTRRA. Thus the amounts drop to \$6,000 for single individuals, \$10,000 for heads of households and \$12,000 for married individuals filing a joint return) for 2005-2007. In 2008, the amounts will increase to \$7,000 (\$14,000 for married individuals filing a joint return). These amounts (\$7,000 for single individuals, \$10,000 for heads of households and \$14,000 for married individuals) are adjusted annually for inflation for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2008. The 10-percent rate bracket will expire for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2010, under the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the size of the 10-percent rate bracket through 2010. Specifically, the size of the 10-percent rate bracket for 2005 through 2010 is set at the 2003 level (\$7,000 for single individuals, \$10,000 for heads of households and \$14,000 for married individuals) with annual indexing from 2003. The modifications to the 10-percent rate bracket under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The conference agreement provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004.

D. Extend Alternative Minimum Tax Exemption for Individuals (sec. 103 of the conference agreement and sec. 55 of the Code)

Present Law

The alternative minimum tax is the amount by which the tentative minimum tax exceeds the regular income tax. An individual's tentative minimum tax is the sum of (1) 26 percent of so much of the taxable excess as does not exceed \$175,000 (\$87,500 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return) and (2) 28 percent of the remaining taxable excess. The taxable excess is so much of the alternative minimum taxable income ("AMTI") as exceeds the exemption amount. The maximum tax rates on net capital gain and dividends used in computing the regular tax are used in computing the tentative minimum tax. AMTI is the individual's taxable income adjusted to take account of specified preferences and adjustments.

The exemption amount is: (1) \$45,000 (\$58,000 for taxable years beginning before 2005) in the case of married individuals filing a joint return and surviving spouses; (2) \$33,750

(\$40,250 for taxable years beginning before 2005) in the case of other unmarried individuals; (3) \$22,500 (\$29,000 for taxable years beginning before 2005) in the case of married individuals filing a separate return; and (4) \$22,500 in the case of an estate or trust. The exemption amount is phased out by an amount equal to 25 percent of the amount by which the individual's AMTI exceeds (1) \$150,000 in the case of married individuals filing a joint return and surviving spouses, (2) \$112,500 in the case of other unmarried individuals, and (3) \$75,000 in the case of married individuals filing separate returns, an estate, or a trust. These amounts are not indexed for inflation.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the increased alternative minimum tax exemption amounts to taxable years beginning in 2005.

Effective date.—The provision applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004.

II. PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE MILITARY

A. Exclusion of Gain on Sale of a Principal Residence by a Member of the Uniformed Services or the Foreign Service (sec. 201 of the House bill and sec. 121 of the Code)

Present Law9

Under present law, an individual taxpayer may exclude up to \$250,000 (\$500,000 if married filing a joint return) of gain realized on the sale or exchange of a principal residence. To be eligible for the exclusion, the taxpayer must have owned and used the residence as a principal residence for at least two of the five years ending on the sale or exchange. A taxpayer who fails to meet these requirements by reason of a change of place of employment, health, or, to the extent provided under regulations, unforeseen circumstances is able to exclude an amount equal to the fraction of the \$250,000 (\$500,000 if married filing a joint return) that is equal to the fraction of the two years that the ownership and use requirements are met. There are no special rules relating to members of the uniformed services or the Foreign Service of the United States.

House Bill

Under the bill, an individual may elect to suspend for a maximum of five years the five-year test period for ownership and use during certain absences due to service in the uniformed services or the Foreign Service of the United States. The uniformed services include: (1) the Armed Forces (the Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard); (2) the commissioned corps of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; and (3) the commissioned corps of the Public Health Service. If the election is made, the five-year period ending on the date of the sale or exchange of a principal residence does not include any period up to five years during which the taxpayer or the taxpayer's spouse is on qualified official extended duty as a member of the uniformed services or in the Foreign Service of the United States. For these purposes, qualified official extended duty is any period of extended duty while serving at a place of duty at least 150 miles away from the taxpayer's principal residence or under orders compelling residence in Government furnished quarters. Extended duty is defined as any period of duty pursuant to a call or order to such duty for a period in excess of 180 days or for an indefinite period. The election may be made with respect to only one property for a suspension period.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for sales or exchanges after May 6, 1997.

Senate	Amend	lment
--------	-------	-------

3 T	
No	provision.
TIO	DIOVISION.

⁹ This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision. ¹⁰

B. Exclusion from Gross Income of Certain Death Gratuity Payments (sec. 202 of the House bill and sec. 134 of the Code)

Present Law¹¹

Present law provides that qualified military benefits are not included in gross income. Generally, a qualified military benefit is any allowance or in-kind benefit (other than personal use of a vehicle) which: (1) is received by any member or former member of the uniformed services of the United States or any dependent of such member by reason of such member's status or service as a member of such uniformed services; and (2) was excludable from gross income on September 9, 1986, under any provision of law, regulation, or administrative practice which was in effect on such date. Generally, other than certain cost of living adjustments, no modification or adjustment of any qualified military benefit after September 9, 1986, is taken into account for purposes of this exclusion from gross income. Qualified military benefits include certain death gratuities. The amount of the military death gratuity benefit has been increased since September 9, 1986 to \$6,000 pursuant to Chapter 75 of Title 10 of the United States Code. However, the amount of the exclusion from gross income was not increased to take into account this change.

House Bill

The bill extends the exclusion from gross income for military benefits to any adjustment to the amount of the death gratuity payable under Chapter 75 of Title 10 of the United States Code that is pursuant to a provision of law enacted before December 31, 1991, with respect to the death of certain members of the Armed services on active duty, inactive duty training, or engaged in authorized travel.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is effective with respect to deaths occurring after September 10, 2001.

Senate Amendment

provision.

All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision. 12

C. Exclusion for Amounts Received Under Department of Defense Homeowners Assistance Program (sec. 203 of the House bill and sec. 132 of the Code)

Present Law¹³

Homeowners Assistance Program payment

The Department of Defense Homeowners Assistance Program ("HAP") provides payments to certain employees and members of the Armed Forces to offset the adverse effects on housing values that result from a military base realignment or closure.¹⁴

In general, under HAP, eligible individuals receive either: (1) a cash payment as compensation for losses that may be or have been sustained in a private sale, in an amount not to exceed the difference between (a) 95 percent of the fair market value of their property prior to public announcement of intention to close all or part of the military base or installation and (b) the fair market value of such property at the time of the sale; or (2) as the purchase price for their property, an amount not to exceed 90 percent of the prior fair market value as determined by the Secretary of Defense, or the amount of the outstanding mortgages.

Tax treatment

Unless specifically excluded, gross income for Federal income tax purposes includes all income from whatever source derived. Amounts received under HAP are received in connection with the performance of services. These amounts are includible in gross income as compensation for services to the extent such payments exceed the fair market value of the property relinquished in exchange for such payments. Additionally, such payments are wages for Federal Insurance Contributions Act ("FICA") tax purposes (including Medicare).

House Bill

The bill generally exempts from gross income amounts received under the HAP (as in effect on the date of enactment of this bill). Amounts received under the program also are not

All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

¹³ This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

¹⁴ The payments are authorized under the provisions of 42 U.S.C. section 3374.

considered wages for FICA tax purposes (including Medicare). The excludable amount is limited to the reduction in the fair market value of property.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for payments made after the date of enactment.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision. 15

D. Expansion of Combat Zone Filing Rules to Contingency Operations (sec. 204 of the House bill and sec. 7508 of the Code)

Present Law¹⁶

General time limits for filing tax returns

Individuals generally must file their Federal income tax returns by April 15 of the year following the close of a taxable year. The Secretary may grant reasonable extensions of time for filing such returns. Treasury regulations provide an additional automatic two-month extension (until June 15 for calendar-year individuals) for United States citizens and residents in military or naval service on duty on April 15 of the following year (the otherwise applicable due date of the return) outside the United States. No action is necessary to apply for this extension, but taxpayers must indicate on their returns (when filed) that they are claiming this extension. Unlike most extensions of time to file, this extension applies to both filing returns and paying the tax due.

Treasury regulations also provide, upon application on the proper form, an automatic four-month extension (until August 15 for calendar-year individuals) for any individual timely filing that form and paying the amount of tax estimated to be due.

In general, individuals must make quarterly estimated tax payments by April 15, June 15, September 15, and January 15 of the following taxable year. Wage withholding is considered to be a payment of estimated taxes.

¹⁵ All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

Suspension of time periods

In general, the period of time for performing various acts under the Code, such as filing tax returns, paying taxes, or filing a claim for credit or refund of tax, is suspended for any individual serving in the Armed Forces of the United States in an area designated as a "combat zone" during the period of combatant activities. An individual who becomes a prisoner of war is considered to continue in active service and is therefore also eligible for these suspension of time provisions. The suspension of time also applies to an individual serving in support of such Armed Forces in the combat zone, such as Red Cross personnel, accredited correspondents, and civilian personnel acting under the direction of the Armed Forces in support of those Forces. The designation of a combat zone must be made by the President in an Executive Order. The President must also designate the period of combatant activities in the combat zone (the starting date and the termination date of combat).

The suspension of time encompasses the period of service in the combat zone during the period of combatant activities in the zone, as well as (1) any time of continuous qualified hospitalization resulting from injury received in the combat zone ¹⁷ or (2) time in missing in action status, plus the next 180 days.

The suspension of time applies to the following acts:

- (1) Filing any return of income, estate, or gift tax (except employment and withholding taxes);
- (2) Payment of any income, estate, or gift tax (except employment and withholding taxes);
- (3) Filing a petition with the Tax Court for redetermination of a deficiency, or for review of a decision rendered by the Tax Court;
- (4) Allowance of a credit or refund of any tax;
- (5) Filing a claim for credit or refund of any tax;
- (6) Bringing suit upon any such claim for credit or refund;
- (7) Assessment of any tax;

Two special rules apply to continuous hospitalization inside the United States. First, the suspension of time provisions based on continuous hospitalization inside the United States are applicable only to the hospitalized individual; they are not applicable to the spouse of such individual. Second, in no event do the suspension of time provisions based on continuous hospitalization inside the United States extend beyond five years from the date the individual returns to the United States. These two special rules do not apply to continuous hospitalization outside the United States.

- (8) Giving or making any notice or demand for the payment of any tax, or with respect to any liability to the United States in respect of any tax;
- (9) Collection of the amount of any liability in respect of any tax;
- (10) Bringing suit by the United States in respect of any liability in respect of any tax; and
- (11) Any other act required or permitted under the internal revenue laws specified by the Secretary of the Treasury.

Individuals may, if they choose, perform any of these acts during the period of suspension. Spouses of qualifying individuals are entitled to the same suspension of time, except that the spouse is ineligible for this suspension for any taxable year beginning more than two years after the date of termination of combatant activities in the combat zone.

House Bill

The bill applies the special suspension of time period rules to persons deployed outside the United States away from the individual's permanent duty station while participating in an operation designated by the Secretary of Defense as a contingency operation or that becomes a contingency operation. A contingency operation is defined as a military operation that is designated by the Secretary of Defense as an operation in which members of the Armed Forces are or may become involved in military actions, operations, or hostilities against an enemy of the United States or against an opposing military force, or results in the call or order to (or retention of) active duty of members of the uniformed services during a war or a national emergency declared by the President or Congress.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision applies to any period for performing an act that has not expired before the date of enactment.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision. ¹⁹

 $^{^{18}}$ The definition is by cross-reference to 10 U.S.C. 101.

All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

E. Modification of Membership Requirement for Exemption from Tax for Certain Veterans' Organizations (sec. 205 of the House bill and sec. 501(c)(19) of the Code)

Present Law²⁰

Under present law, a veterans' organization as described in section 501(c)(19) of the Code generally is exempt from taxation. The Code defines such an organization as a post or organization of past or present members of the Armed Forces of the United States: (1) that is organized in the United States or any of its possessions; (2) no part of the net earnings of which inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual; and (3) that meets certain membership requirements. The membership requirements are that (1) at least 75 percent of the organization's members are past or present members of the Armed Forces of the United States, and (2) substantially all of the remaining members are cadets or are spouses, widows, or widowers of past or present members of the Armed Forces of the United States or of cadets. No more than 2.5 percent of an organization's total members may consist of individuals who are not veterans, cadets, or spouses, widows, or widowers of such individuals.

Contributions to an organization described in section 501(c)(19) may be deductible for Federal income or gift tax purposes if the organization is a post or organization of war veterans.

House Bill

The bill permits ancestors or lineal descendants of past or present members of the Armed Forces of the United States or of cadets to qualify as members for purposes of the "substantially all" test. The bill does not change the requirement that 75 percent of the organization's members must be past or present members of the Armed Forces of the United States.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after the date of enactment.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision. ²¹

This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

F. Clarification of Treatment of Certain Dependent Care Assistance Programs Provided to Members of the Uniformed Services of the United States (sec. 206 of the House bill and sec. 134 of the Code)

Present Law²²

Present law provides that qualified military benefits are not included in gross income. Generally, a qualified military benefit is any allowance or in-kind benefit (other than personal use of a vehicle) which: (1) is received by any member or former member of the uniformed services of the United States or any dependent of such member by reason of such member's status or service as a member of such uniformed services; and (2) was excludable from gross income on September 9, 1986, under any provision of law, regulation, or administrative practice which was in effect on such date. Generally, other than certain cost of living adjustments, no modification or adjustment of any qualified military benefit after September 9, 1986, is taken into account for purposes of this exclusion from gross income.

House Bill

The bill clarifies that dependent care assistance provided under a dependent care assistance program (as in effect on the date of enactment of this bill) for a member of the uniformed services by reason of such member's status or service as a member of the uniformed services is excludable from gross income as a qualified military benefit subject to the present-law rules. The uniformed services include: (1) the Armed Forces (the Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, and Coast Guard); (2) the commissioned corps of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; and (3) the commissioned corps of the Public Health Service. Amounts received under the program also are not considered wages for Federal Insurance Contributions Act tax purposes (including Medicare).

Effective date.—The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2002. No inference is intended as to the tax treatment of such amounts for prior taxable years.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision.²³

This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

²³ All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

G. Treatment of Service Academy Appointments as Scholarships for Purposes of Qualified Tuition Programs and Coverdell Education Savings Accounts (sec. 207 of the House bill and secs. 529 and 530 of the Code)

Present Law²⁴

The Code provides tax-exempt status to qualified tuition programs, meaning programs established and maintained by a State or agency or instrumentality thereof or by one or more eligible educational institutions under which a person (1) may purchase tuition credits or certificates on behalf of a designated beneficiary which entitle the beneficiary to the waiver or payment of qualified higher education expenses of the beneficiary, or (2) in the case of a program established by and maintained by a State or agency or instrumentality thereof, may make contributions to an account which is established for the purpose of meeting the qualified higher education expenses of the designated beneficiary of the account. Contributions to qualified tuition programs must have adequate safeguards to prevent contributions on behalf of a designated beneficiary in excess of amounts necessary to provide for the qualified higher education expenses of the beneficiary.

The Code provides tax-exempt status to Coverdell education savings accounts ("ESAs"), meaning certain trusts or custodial accounts which are created or organized in the United States exclusively for the purpose of paying the qualified education expenses of a designated beneficiary. Contributions to ESAs may be made only in cash. Annual contributions to ESAs may not exceed \$2,000 per beneficiary (except in cases involving certain tax-free rollovers) and may not be made after the designated beneficiary reaches age 18.

Earnings on contributions to an ESA or a qualified tuition program generally are subject to tax when withdrawn. However, distributions from an ESA or qualified tuition program are excludable from the gross income of the distributee to the extent that the total distribution does not exceed the qualified education expenses incurred by the beneficiary during the year the distribution is made.

If the qualified education expenses of the beneficiary for the year are less than the total amount of the distribution from an ESA or qualified tuition program, then the qualified education expenses are deemed to be paid from a pro-rata share of both the principal and earnings components of the distribution. In such a case, only a portion of the earnings is excludable (i.e., the portion of the earnings based on the ratio that the qualified education expenses bear to the total amount of the distribution) and the remaining portion of the earnings is includible in the beneficiary's gross income.

The earnings portion of a distribution from an ESA or a qualified tuition program that is includible in income is generally subject to an additional 10 percent tax. The 10-percent

²⁴ This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

additional tax does not apply if a distribution is made on account of the death or disability of the designated beneficiary, or on account of a scholarship received by the designated beneficiary (to the extent it does not exceed the amount of the scholarship).

Service obligations are required of recipients of appointments to the United States Military Academy, the United States Naval Academy, the United States Air Force Academy, the United States Coast Guard Academy, or the United States Merchant Marine Academy. Because of these service obligations, appointments to the Academies are not considered scholarships for purposes of the waiver of the additional 10 percent tax on withdrawals from ESAs and qualified tuition programs that are not used for qualified education purposes.

House Bill

The bill permits penalty-free withdrawals from Coverdell education savings accounts and qualified tuition programs made on account of the attendance of the beneficiary at the United States Military Academy, the United States Naval Academy, the United States Air Force Academy, the United States Coast Guard Academy, or the United States Merchant Marine Academy.

The amount of funds that can be withdrawn penalty free is limited to the costs of advanced education as defined in 10 U.S.C. section 2005(e)(3) (as in effect on the date of the enactment of the bill) at such Academies.

Effective date.—The provision applies to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2002.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision.²⁵

All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

H. Above-the-Line Deduction for Overnight Travel Expenses of National Guard and Reserve Members (sec. 208 of the House bill and sec. 162 of the Code)

Present Law²⁶

National Guard and Reserve members may claim itemized deductions for their nonreimbursable expenses for transportation, meals, and lodging when they must travel away from home (and stay overnight) to attend National Guard and Reserve meetings. These overnight travel expenses are combined with other miscellaneous itemized deductions on Schedule A of the individual's income tax return and are deductible only to the extent that the aggregate of these deductions exceeds two percent of the taxpayer's adjusted gross income. No deduction is generally permitted for commuting expenses to and from drill meetings.

House Bill

The bill provides an above-the-line deduction for the overnight transportation, meals, and lodging expenses of National Guard and Reserve members who must travel away from home more than 100 miles (and stay overnight) to attend National Guard and Reserve meetings. Accordingly, these individuals incurring these expenses can deduct them from gross income regardless of whether they itemize their deductions. The amount of the expenses that may be deducted may not exceed \$1,500 per taxable year and is only available for any period during which the individual is more than 100 miles from home in connection with such services.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is effective with respect to amounts paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2002.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision.²⁷

This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

I. Suspension of Tax-Exempt Status of Terrorist Organizations (sec. 301 of the House bill and sec. 501 of the Code)

Present Law²⁸

Under present law, the Internal Revenue Service generally issues a letter revoking recognition of an organization's tax-exempt status only after (1) conducting an examination of the organization, (2) issuing a letter to the organization proposing revocation, and (3) allowing the organization to exhaust the administrative appeal rights that follow the issuance of the proposed revocation letter. In the case of an organization described in section 501(c)(3), the revocation letter immediately is subject to judicial review under the declaratory judgment procedures of section 7428. To sustain a revocation of tax-exempt status under section 7428, the IRS must demonstrate that the organization is no longer entitled to exemption. There is no procedure under current law for the IRS to suspend the tax-exempt status of an organization.

To combat terrorism, the Federal government has designated a number of organizations as terrorist organizations or supporters of terrorism under the Immigration and Nationality Act, the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, and the United Nations Participation Act of 1945.

House Bill

The bill suspends the tax-exempt status of an organization that is exempt from tax under section 501(a) for any period during which the organization is designated or identified by U.S. Federal authorities as a terrorist organization or supporter of terrorism. The bill also makes such an organization ineligible to apply for tax exemption under section 501(a). The period of suspension runs from the date the organization is first designated or identified (or from the date of enactment of the bill, whichever is later) to the date when all designations or identifications with respect to the organization have been rescinded pursuant to the law or Executive order under which the designation or identification was made.

The bill describes a terrorist organization as an organization that has been designated or otherwise individually identified (1) as a terrorist organization or foreign terrorist organization under the authority of section 212(a)(3)(B)(vi)(II) or section 219 of the Immigration and Nationality Act; (2) in or pursuant to an Executive order that is related to terrorism and issued under the authority of the International Emergency Economic Powers Act or section 5 of the United Nations Participation Act for the purpose of imposing on such organization an economic or other sanction; or (3) in or pursuant to an Executive order that refers to the provision and is issued under the authority of any Federal law if the organization is designated or otherwise individually identified in or pursuant to such Executive order as supporting or engaging in terrorist activity (as defined in section 212(a)(3)(B) of the Immigration and Nationality Act) or supporting terrorism (as defined in section 140(d)(2) of the Foreign Relations Authorization Act,

This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

Fiscal Years 1988 and 1989). During the period of suspension, no deduction for any contribution to a terrorist organization is allowed under the Code, including under sections 170, 545(b)(2), 556(b)(2), 642(c), 2055, 2106(a)(2), or 2522.

No organization or other person may challenge, under section 7428 or any other provision of law, in any administrative or judicial proceeding relating to the Federal tax liability of such organization or other person, the suspension of tax-exemption, the ineligibility to apply for tax-exemption, a designation or identification described above, the timing of the period of suspension, or a denial of deduction described above. The suspended organization may maintain other suits or administrative actions against the agency or agencies that designated or identified the organization, for the purpose of challenging such designation or identification (but not the suspension of tax-exempt status under this provision).

If the tax-exemption of an organization is suspended and each designation and identification that has been made with respect to the organization is determined to be erroneous pursuant to the law or Executive order making the designation or identification, and such erroneous designation results in an overpayment of income tax for any taxable year with respect to such organization, a credit or refund (with interest) with respect to such overpayment shall be made. If the operation of any law or rule of law (including res judicata) prevents the credit or refund at any time, the credit or refund may nevertheless be allowed or made if the claim for such credit or refund is filed before the close of the one-year period beginning on the date that the last remaining designation or identification with respect to the organization is determined to be erroneous.

The bill directs the IRS to update the listings of tax-exempt organizations to take account of organizations that have had their exemption suspended and to publish notice to taxpayers of the suspension of an organization's tax-exemption and the fact that contributions to such organization are not deductible during the period of suspension.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is effective for designations made before, on, or after the date of enactment.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision.²⁹

²⁹ All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

J. Extension of Certain Tax Relief Provisions to Astronauts (sec. 401 of the House bill and secs. 101, 692, and 2201 of the Code)

Present Law³⁰

In general

The Victims of Terrorism Tax Relief Act of 2001 (the "Victims Act") provided certain income and estate tax relief to individuals who die from wounds or injury incurred as a result of the terrorist attacks against the United States on September 11, 2001, and April 19, 1995 (the bombing of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City) or as a result of illness incurred due to an attack involving anthrax that occurred on or after September 11, 2001, and before January 1, 2002.

Income tax relief

The Victims Act extended relief similar to the present-law treatment of military or civilian employees of the United States who die as a result of terrorist or military activity outside the United States to individuals who die as a result of wounds or injury which were incurred as a result of the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, or April 19, 1995, and individuals who die as a result of illness incurred due to an attack involving anthrax that occurs on or after September 11, 2001, and before January 1, 2002. Under the Victims Act, such individuals generally are exempt from income tax for the year of death and for prior taxable years beginning with the taxable year prior to the taxable year in which the wounds or injury occurred. The exemption applies to these individuals whether killed in an attack (e.g., in the case of the September 11, 2001, attack in one of the four airplanes or on the ground) or in rescue or recovery operations.

Present law provides tax relief of at least \$10,000 to each eligible individual regardless of the income tax liability of the individual for the eligible tax years. If an eligible individual's income tax for years eligible for the exclusion under the provision is less than \$10,000, the individual is treated as having made a tax payment for such individual's last taxable year in an amount equal to the excess of \$10,000 over the amount of tax not imposed under the provision.

Subject to rules prescribed by the Secretary, the exemption from tax does not apply to the tax attributable to (1) deferred compensation which would have been payable after death if the individual had died other than as a specified terrorist victim, or (2) amounts payable in the taxable year which would not have been payable in such taxable year but for an action taken after September 11, 2001. Thus, for example, the exemption does not apply to amounts payable from a qualified plan or individual retirement arrangement to the beneficiary or estate of the individual. Similarly, amounts payable only as death or survivor's benefits pursuant to deferred

³⁰ This description of present law refers to the law in effect at the time the bill passed the House of Representatives, which was prior to the enactment of Pub. L. No. 108-121.

³¹ Present law does not provide relief from self-employment tax liability.

compensation preexisting arrangements that would have been paid if the death had occurred for another reason are not covered by the exemption. In addition, if the individual's employer makes adjustments to a plan or arrangement to accelerate the vesting of restricted property or the payment of nonqualified deferred compensation after the date of the particular attack, the exemption does not apply to income received as a result of that action. Also, if the individual's beneficiary cashed in savings bonds of the decedent, the exemption does not apply. On the other hand, the exemption does apply, for example, to a final paycheck of the individual or dividends on stock held by the individual when paid to another person or the individual's estate after the date of death but before the end of the taxable year of the decedent (determined without regard to the death). The exemption also applies to payments of an individual's accrued vacation and accrued sick leave.

The tax relief does not apply to any individual identified by the Attorney General to have been a participant or conspirator in any terrorist attack to which the provision applies, or a representative of such individual.

Exclusion of death benefits

The Victims Act generally provides an exclusion from gross income for amounts received if such amounts are paid by an employer (whether in a single sum or otherwise³³) by reason of the death of an employee who dies as a result of wounds or injury which were incurred as a result of the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, or April 19, 1995, or as a result of illness incurred due to an attack involving anthrax that occurred on or after September 11, 2001, and before January 1, 2002. Subject to rules prescribed by the Secretary, the exclusion does not apply to amounts that would have been payable if the individual had died for a reason other than the attack. The exclusion does apply, however, to death benefits provided under a qualified plan that satisfy the incidental benefit rule.

For purposes of the exclusion, self-employed individuals are treated as employees. Thus, for example, payments by a partnership to the surviving spouse of a partner who died as a result of the September 11, 2001, attacks may be excludable under the provision.

The tax relief does not apply to any individual identified by the Attorney General to have been a participant or conspirator in any terrorist attack to which the provision applies, or a representative of such individual.

Estate tax relief

Present law provides a reduction in Federal estate tax for taxable estates of U.S. citizens or residents who are active members of the U.S. Armed Forces and who are killed in action

³² Such amounts may, however, be excludable from gross income under the death benefit exclusion provided in section 102 of the Victims Act.

Thus, for example, payments made over a period of years could qualify for the exclusion.

while serving in a combat zone (sec. 2201). This provision also applies to active service members who die as a result of wounds, disease, or injury suffered while serving in a combat zone by reason of a hazard to which the service member was subjected as an incident of such service.

In general, the effect of section 2201 is to replace the Federal estate tax that would otherwise be imposed with a Federal estate tax equal to 125 percent of the maximum State death tax credit determined under section 2011(b). Credits against the tax, including the unified credit of section 2010 and the State death tax credit of section 2011, then apply to reduce (or eliminate) the amount of the estate tax payable.

Generally, the reduction in Federal estate taxes under section 2201 is equal in amount to the "additional estate tax." The additional estate tax is the difference between the Federal estate tax imposed by section 2001 and 125 percent of the maximum State death tax credit determined under section 2011(b) as in effect prior to its repeal by EGTRRA.

The Victims Act generally treats individuals who die from wounds or injury incurred as a result of the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, or April 19, 1995, or as a result of illness incurred due to an attack involving anthrax that occurred on or after September 11, 2001, and before January 1, 2002, in the same manner as if they were active members of the U.S. Armed Forces killed in action while serving in a combat zone or dying as a result of wounds or injury suffered while serving in a combat zone for purposes of section 2201. Consequently, the estates of these individuals are eligible for the reduction in Federal estate tax provided by section 2201. The tax relief does not apply to any individual identified by the Attorney General to have been a participant or conspirator in any terrorist attack to which the provision applies, or a representative of such individual.

The Victims Act also changed the general operation of section 2201, as it applies to both the estates of service members who qualify for special estate tax treatment under present and prior law and to the estates of individuals who qualify for the special treatment only under the Act. Under the Victims Act, the Federal estate tax is determined in the same manner for all estates that are eligible for Federal estate tax reduction under section 2201. In addition, the executor of an estate that is eligible for special estate tax treatment under section 2201 may elect not to have section 2201 apply to the estate. Thus, in the event that an estate may receive more favorable treatment without the application of section 2201 in the year of death than it would under section 2201, the executor may elect not to apply the provisions of section 2201, and the estate tax owed (if any) would be determined pursuant to the generally applicable rules.

Under the Victims Act, section 2201 no longer reduces Federal estate tax by the amount of the additional estate tax. Instead, the Victims Act provides that the Federal estate tax liability of eligible estates is determined under section 2001 (or section 2101, in the case of decedents who were neither residents nor citizens of the United States), using a rate schedule that is equal to 125 percent of the pre-EGTRRA maximum State death tax credit amount. This rate schedule is used to compute the tax under section 2001(b) or section 2101(b) (i.e., both the tentative tax under section 2001(b)(1) and section 2101(b), and the hypothetical gift tax under section 2001(b)(2) are computed using this rate schedule). As a result of this provision, the estate tax is unified with the gift tax for purposes of section 2201 so that a single graduated (but reduced) rate

schedule applies to transfers made by the individual at death, based upon the cumulative taxable transfers made both during lifetime and at death.

In addition, while the Victims Act provides an alternative reduced rate table for purposes of determining the tax under section 2001(b) or section 2101(b), the amount of the unified credit nevertheless is determined as if section 2201 did not apply, based upon the unified credit as in effect on the date of death. For example, in the case of victims of the September 11, 2001, terrorist attack, the applicable unified credit amount under section 2010(c) would be determined by reference to the actual section 2001(c) rate table.

House Bill

The bill extends the exclusion from income tax, the exclusion for death benefits, and the estate tax relief available under the Victims of Terrorism Tax Relief Act of 2001 to astronauts who lose their lives on a space mission (including the individuals who lost their lives in the space shuttle Columbia disaster).

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is generally effective for qualified individuals whose lives are lost on a space mission after December 31, 2002.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the House bill provision.³⁴

³⁴ All of the House bill provisions relating to the military have been enacted prior to this conference agreement in separate legislation (Pub. L. No. 108-121).

III. OTHER PROVISIONS

A. Establish Uniform Definition of a Qualifying Child (secs. 201-208 of the conference agreement, and secs. 2, 21, 24, 32, 151, and 152 of the Code)

Present Law

In general

Present law contains five commonly used provisions that provide benefits to taxpayers with children: (1) the dependency exemption; (2) the child credit; (3) the earned income credit; (4) the dependent care credit; and (5) head of household filing status. Each provision has separate criteria for determining whether the taxpayer qualifies for the applicable tax benefit with respect to a particular child. The separate criteria include factors such as the relationship (if any) the child must bear to the taxpayer, the age of the child, and whether the child must live with the taxpayer. Thus, with respect to the same individual, a taxpayer is required to determine eligibility for each benefit separately, and an individual who qualifies a taxpayer for one provision does not automatically qualify the taxpayer for another provision.

Dependency exemption³⁵

In general

Taxpayers are entitled to a personal exemption deduction for the taxpayer, his or her spouse, and each dependent. For 2004, the amount deductible for each personal exemption is \$3,100. The deduction for personal exemptions is phased out for taxpayers with incomes above certain thresholds.³⁶

In general, a taxpayer is entitled to a dependency exemption for an individual if the individual: (1) satisfies a relationship test or is a member of the taxpayer's household for the entire taxable year; (2) satisfies a support test; (3) satisfies a gross income test or is a child of the taxpayer under a certain age; (4) is a citizen or resident of the U.S. or resident of Canada or

³⁵ Secs. 151 and 152. Under the statutory structure, section 151 provides for the deduction for personal exemptions with respect to "dependents." The term "dependent" is defined in section 152. Most of the requirements regarding dependents are contained in section 152; section 151 contains additional requirements that must be satisfied in order to obtain a dependency exemption with respect to a dependent (as so defined). In particular, section 151 contains the gross income test, the rules relating to married dependents filing a joint return, and the requirement for a taxpayer identification number. The other rules discussed here are contained in section 151.

³⁶ Sec. 151(d)(3).

Mexico;³⁷ and (5) did not file a joint return with his or her spouse for the year.³⁸ In addition, the taxpayer identification number of the individual must be included on the taxpayer's return.

Relationship or member of household test

Relationship test.—The relationship test is satisfied if an individual is the taxpayer's (1) son or daughter or a descendant of either (e.g., grandchild or great-grandchild); (2) stepson or stepdaughter; (3) brother or sister (including half brother, half sister, stepbrother, or stepsister); (4) parent, grandparent, or other direct ancestor (but not foster parent); (5) stepfather or stepmother; (6) brother or sister of the taxpayer's father or mother; (7) son or daughter of the taxpayer's brother or sister; or (8) the taxpayer's father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law.

An adopted child (or a child who is a member of the taxpayer's household and who has been placed with the taxpayer for adoption) is treated as a child of the taxpayer. A foster child is treated as a child of the taxpayer if the foster child is a member of the taxpayer's household for the entire taxable year.

Member of household test.—If the relationship test is not satisfied, then the individual may be considered the dependent of the taxpayer if the individual is a member of the taxpayer's household for the entire year. Thus, a taxpayer may be eligible to claim a dependency exemption with respect to an unrelated child who lives with the taxpayer for the entire year.

For the member of household test to be satisfied, the taxpayer must both maintain the household and occupy the household with the individual.³⁹ A taxpayer or other individual does not fail to be considered a member of a household because of "temporary" absences due to special circumstances, including absences due to illness, education, business, vacation, and military service.⁴⁰ Similarly, an individual does not fail to be considered a member of the taxpayer's household due to a custody agreement under which the individual is absent for less than six months.⁴¹ Indefinite absences that last for more than the taxable year may be considered "temporary." For example, the IRS has ruled that an elderly woman who was indefinitely

A legally adopted child who does not satisfy the residency or citizenship requirement may nevertheless qualify as a dependent (provided other applicable requirements are met) if (1) the child's principal place of abode is the taxpayer's home and (2) the taxpayer is a citizen or national of the United States. Sec. 152(b)(3).

This restriction does not apply if the return was filed solely to obtain a refund and no tax liability would exist for either spouse if they filed separate returns. Rev. Rul. 54-567, 1954-2 C.B. 108.

³⁹ Treas. Reg. sec. 1.152-1(b).

⁴⁰ *Id*.

⁴¹ *Id*.

confined to a nursing home was temporarily absent from a taxpayer's household. Under the facts of the ruling, the woman had been an occupant of the household before being confined to a nursing home, the confinement had extended for several years, and it was possible that the woman would die before becoming well enough to return to the taxpayer's household. There was no intent on the part of the taxpayer or the woman to change her principal place of abode. 42

Support test

In general.—The support test is satisfied if the taxpayer provides over one half of the support of the individual for the taxable year. To determine whether a taxpayer has provided more than one half of an individual's support, the amount the taxpayer contributed to the individual's support is compared with the entire amount of support the individual received from all sources, including the individual's own funds. ⁴³ Governmental payments and subsidies (e.g., Temporary Assistance to Needy Families, food stamps, and housing) generally are treated as support provided by a third party. Expenses that are not directly related to any one member of a household, such as the cost of food for the household, must be divided among the members of the household. If any person furnishes support in kind (e.g., in the form of housing), then the fair market value of that support must be determined.

Multiple support agreements.—In some cases, no one taxpayer provides more than one half of the support of an individual. Instead, two or more taxpayers, each of whom would be able to claim a dependency exemption but for the support test, together provide more than one half of the individual's support. If this occurs, the taxpayers may agree to designate that one of the taxpayers who individually provides more than 10 percent of the individual's support can claim a dependency exemption for the child. Each of the others must sign a written statement agreeing not to claim the exemption for that year. The statements must be filed with the income tax return of the taxpayer who claims the exemption.

Special rules for divorced or legally separated parents.—Special rules apply in the case of a child of divorced or legally separated parents (or parents who live apart at all times during the last six months of the year) who provide over one half the child's support during the calendar year. ⁴⁴ If such a child is in the custody of one or both of the parents for more than one half of the year, then the parent having custody for the greater portion of the year is deemed to satisfy the

⁴² Rev. Rul. 66-28, 1966-1 C.B. 31.

⁴³ In the case of a son, daughter, stepson, or stepdaughter of the taxpayer who is a full-time student, scholarships are not taken into account for purpose of the support test. Sec. 152(d).

 $^{^{44}}$ For purposes of this rule, a "child" means a son, daughter, stepson, or stepdaughter (including an adopted child or foster child, or child placed with the taxpayer for adoption). Sec. 152(e)(1)(A).

support test; however, the custodial parent may release the dependency exemption to the noncustodial parent by filing a written declaration with the IRS. 45

Gross income test

In general, an individual may not be claimed as a dependent of a taxpayer if the individual has gross income that is at least equal to the personal exemption amount for the taxable year. ⁴⁶ If the individual is the child of the taxpayer and under age 19 (or under age 24, if a full-time student), the gross income test does not apply. ⁴⁷ For purposes of this rule, a "child" means a son, daughter, stepson, or stepdaughter (including an adopted child of the taxpayer, a foster child who resides with the taxpayer for the entire year, or a child placed with the taxpayer for adoption by an authorized adoption agency).

Earned income credit⁴⁸

In general

In general, the earned income credit is a refundable credit for low-income workers. The amount of the credit depends on the earned income of the taxpayer and whether the taxpayer has one, more than one, or no "qualifying children." In order to be a qualifying child for the earned income credit, an individual must satisfy a relationship test, a residency test, and an age test. In addition, the name, age, and taxpayer identification number of the qualifying child must be included on the return.

Relationship test

An individual satisfies the relationship test under the earned income credit if the individual is the taxpayer's: (1) son, daughter, stepson, or stepdaughter, or a descendant of any such individual;⁴⁹ (2) brother, sister, stepbrother, or stepsister, or a descendant of any such individual, who the taxpayer cares for as the taxpayer's own child; or (3) eligible foster child.

⁴⁵ Special support rules also apply in the case of certain pre-1985 agreements between divorced or legally separated parents. Sec. 152(e)(4).

⁴⁶ Certain income from sheltered workshops is not taken into account in determining the gross income of permanently and totally disabled individuals. Sec. 151(c)(5).

⁴⁷ Sec. 151(c). The IRS has issued guidance stating that for purposes of the dependency exemption, an individual attains a specified age on the anniversary of the date that the child was born (e.g., a child born on January 1, 1987, attains the age of 17 on January 1, 2004). Rev. Rul. 2003-72, 2003-33 I.R.B. 346.

⁴⁸ Sec. 32.

⁴⁹ A child who is legally adopted or placed with the taxpayer for adoption by an authorized adoption agency is treated as the taxpayer's own child. Sec. 32(c)(3)(B)(iv).

An eligible foster child is an individual (1) who is placed with the taxpayer by an authorized placement agency, and (2) who the taxpayer cares for as her or his own child. A married child of the taxpayer is not treated as meeting the relationship test unless the taxpayer is entitled to a dependency exemption with respect to the married child (e.g., the support test is satisfied) or would be entitled to the exemption if the taxpayer had not waived the exemption to the noncustodial parent. ⁵⁰

Residency test

The residency test is satisfied if the individual has the same principal place of abode as the taxpayer for more than one half of the taxable year. The residence must be in the United States. States. As under the dependency exemption (and head of household filing status), temporary absences due to special circumstances, including absences due to illness, education, business, vacation, and military service are not treated as absences for purposes of determining whether the residency test is satisfied. Under the earned income credit, there is no requirement that the taxpayer maintain the household in which the taxpayer and the qualifying individual reside.

Age test

In general, the age test is satisfied if the individual has not attained age 19 as of the close of the calendar year.⁵³ In the case of a full-time student, the age test is satisfied if the individual has not attained age 24 as of the close of the calendar year. In the case of an individual who is permanently and totally disabled, no age limit applies.

Child credit⁵⁴

Taxpayers with incomes below certain amounts are eligible for a child credit for each qualifying child of the taxpayer. The amount of the child credit is up to \$1,000, in the case of taxable years beginning in 2003 or 2004. The child credit reverts to \$700 for taxable years beginning in 2005 through 2008, \$800 for taxable years beginning in 2009, and \$1,000 for

⁵⁰ Sec. 32(c)(3)(B)(ii).

⁵¹ The principal place of abode of a member of the Armed Services is treated as in the United States during any period during which the individual is stationed outside the United States on active duty. Sec. 32(c)(4).

⁵² IRS Publication 596, *Earned Income Credit (EIC)*, at 14. H. Rep. 101-964 (October 27, 1990), at 1037.

⁵³ The IRS has issued guidance stating that for purposes of the earned income credit, an individual attains a specified age on the anniversary of the date that the child was born (e.g., a child born on January 1, 1987, attains the age of 17 on January 1, 2004). Rev. Rul. 2003-72, 2003-33 I.R.B. 346.

⁵⁴ Sec. 24.

taxable years beginning in 2010. The credit declines to \$500 in taxable year 2011.⁵⁵ For purposes of this credit, a qualifying child is an individual: (1) with respect to whom the taxpayer is entitled to a dependency exemption for the year; (2) who satisfies the same relationship test applicable to the earned income credit; and (3) who has not attained age 17 as of the close of the calendar year.⁵⁶ In addition, the child must be a citizen or resident of the United States.⁵⁷ A portion of the child credit is refundable under certain circumstances.⁵⁸

Dependent care credit 59

The dependent care credit may be claimed by a taxpayer who maintains a household that includes one or more qualifying individuals and who has employment-related expenses. A qualifying individual means (1) a dependent of the taxpayer under age 13 for whom the taxpayer is entitled to a dependency exemption, ⁶⁰ (2) a dependent of the taxpayer who is physically or mentally incapable of caring for himself or herself, ⁶¹ or (3) the spouse of the taxpayer, if the spouse is physically or mentally incapable of caring for himself or herself. In addition, a taxpayer identification number for the qualifying individual must be included on the return.

⁵⁵ EGTRRA, Pub. L. No. 107-16, sec. 901(a) (2001).

The IRS has issued guidance stating that for purposes of the child credit, an individual attains a specified age on the anniversary of the date that the child was born (e.g., a child born on January 1, 1987, attains the age of 17 on January 1, 2004). Rev. Rul. 2003-72, 2003-33 I.R.B. 346.

The child credit does not apply with respect to a child who is a resident of Canada or Mexico and is not a U.S. citizen, even if a dependency exemption is available with respect to the child. Sec. 24(c)(2). The child credit is, however, available with respect to a child dependent who is not a resident or citizen of the United States if: (1) the child has been legally adopted by the taxpayer; (2) the child's principal place of abode is the taxpayer's home; and (3) the taxpayer is a U.S. citizen or national. *See* sec. 24(c)(2) and sec. 152(b)(3).

⁵⁸ Sec. 24(d).

⁵⁹ Sec. 21.

⁶⁰ The IRS has issued guidance stating that for purposes of the dependent care credit, an individual attains a specified age on the anniversary of the date that the child was born (e.g., a child born on January 1, 1987, attains the age of 17 on January 1, 2004). Rev. Rul. 2003-72, 2003-33 I.R.B. 346.

Although such an individual must be a dependent of the taxpayer as defined in section 152, it is not required that the taxpayer be entitled to a dependency exemption with respect to the individual under section 151. Thus, such an individual may be a qualifying individual for purposes of the dependent care credit, even though the taxpayer is not entitled to a dependency exemption because the individual does not meet the gross income test.

A taxpayer is considered to maintain a household for a period if over one half the cost of maintaining the household for the period is furnished by the taxpayer (or, if married, the taxpayer and his or her spouse). Costs of maintaining the household include expenses such as rent, mortgage interest (but not principal), real estate taxes, insurance on the home, repairs (but not home improvements), utilities, and food eaten in the home.

A special rule applies in the case of a child who is under age 13 or is physically or mentally incapable of caring for himself or herself if the custodial parent has waived his or her dependency exemption to the noncustodial parent. ⁶² For the dependent care credit, the child is treated as a qualifying individual with respect to the custodial parent, not the parent entitled to claim the dependency exemption.

Head of household filing status⁶³

A taxpayer may claim head of household filing status if the taxpayer is unmarried (and not a surviving spouse) and pays more than one half of the cost of maintaining as his or her home a household which is the principal place of abode for more than one half of the year of (1) an unmarried son, daughter, stepson or stepdaughter of the taxpayer or an unmarried descendant of the taxpayer's son or daughter, (2) an individual described in (1) who is married, if the taxpayer may claim a dependency exemption with respect to the individual (or could claim the exemption if the taxpayer had not waived the exemption to the noncustodial parent), or (3) a relative with respect to whom the taxpayer may claim a dependency exemption. ⁶⁴ If certain other requirements are satisfied, head of household filing status also may be claimed if the taxpayer is entitled to a dependency exemption with respect to one of the taxpayer's parents.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

In general

In general

The Senate amendment establishes a uniform definition of qualifying child for purposes of the dependency exemption, the child credit, the earned income credit, the dependent care credit, and head of household filing status. A taxpayer generally may claim an individual who

⁶² Sec. 21(e)(5).

⁶³ Sec. 2(b).

⁶⁴ Sec. 2(b)(1)(A)(ii), as qualified by sec. 2(b)(3)(B). An individual for whom the taxpayer is entitled to claim a dependency exemption by reason of a multiple support agreement does not qualify the taxpayer for head of household filing status.

does not meet the uniform definition of qualifying child (with respect to any taxpayer) as a dependent if the present-law dependency requirements are satisfied. The Senate amendment generally does not modify other parameters of each tax benefit (e.g., the earned income requirements of the earned income credit) or the rules for determining whether individuals other than children of the taxpayer qualify for each tax benefit.

Under the uniform definition, in general, a child is a qualifying child of a taxpayer if the child satisfies each of three tests: (1) the child has the same principal place of abode as the taxpayer for more than one half the taxable year; (2) the child has a specified relationship to the taxpayer; and (3) the child has not yet attained a specified age. A tie-breaking rule applies if more than one taxpayer claims a child as a qualifying child.

Under the Senate amendment, the present-law support and gross income tests for determining whether an individual is a dependent generally do not apply to a child who meets the requirements of the uniform definition of qualifying child.

Residency test

Under the uniform definition's residency test, a child must have the same principal place of abode as the taxpayer for more than one half of the taxable year. It is intended that, as is the case under present law, temporary absences due to special circumstances, including absences due to illness, education, business, vacation, or military service, are not treated as absences.

Relationship test

In order to be a qualifying child under the Senate amendment, the child must be the taxpayer's son, daughter, stepson, stepdaughter, brother, sister, stepbrother, stepsister, or a descendant of any such individual. An individual legally adopted by the taxpayer, or an individual who is placed with the taxpayer by an authorized placement agency for adoption by the taxpayer, is treated as a child of such taxpayer by blood. A foster child who is placed with the taxpayer by an authorized placement agency or by judgment, decree, or other order of any court of competent jurisdiction is treated as the taxpayer's child.⁶⁵

Age test

Under the Senate amendment, the age test varies depending upon the tax benefit involved. In general, a child must be under age 19 (or under age 24 in the case of a full-time student) in order to be a qualifying child. ⁶⁶ In general, no age limit applies with respect to individuals who are totally and permanently disabled within the meaning of section 22(e)(3) at

⁶⁵ The provision eliminates the present-law rule requiring that if a child is the taxpayer's sibling or stepsibling or a descendant of any such individual, the taxpayer must care for the child as if the child were his or her own child.

 $^{^{66}\,}$ The provision retains the present-law definition of full-time student set forth in section 151(c)(4).

any time during the calendar year. The Senate amendment retains the present-law requirements that a child must be under age 13 (if he or she is not disabled) for purposes of the dependent care credit, and under age 17 (whether or not disabled) for purposes of the child credit.

Children who support themselves

Under the Senate amendment, a child who provides over one half of his or her own support generally is not considered a qualifying child of another taxpayer. The Senate amendment retains the present-law rule, however, that a child who provides over one half of his or her own support may constitute a qualifying child of another taxpayer for purposes of the earned income credit.

Tie-breaking rules

If a child would be a qualifying child with respect to more than one individual (e.g., a child lives with his or her mother and grandmother in the same residence) and more than one person claims a benefit with respect to that child, then the following "tie-breaking" rules apply. First, if only one of the individuals claiming the child as a qualifying child is the child's parent, the child is deemed the qualifying child of the parent. Second, if both parents claim the child and the parents do not file a joint return, then the child is deemed a qualifying child first with respect to the parent with whom the child resides for the longest period of time, and second with respect to the parent with the highest adjusted gross income. Third, if the child's parents do not claim the child, then the child is deemed a qualifying child with respect to the claimant with the highest adjusted gross income.

Interaction with present-law rules

Taxpayers generally may claim an individual who does not meet the uniform definition of qualifying child with respect to any taxpayer as a dependent if the present-law dependency requirements (including the gross income and support tests) are satisfied.⁶⁷ Thus, for example, as under present law, a taxpayer may claim a parent as a dependent if the taxpayer provides more than one half of the support of the parent and the parent's gross income is less than the exemption amount. As another example, under the Senate amendment a grandparent may claim a dependency exemption with respect to a grandson who does not reside with any taxpayer for over one half the year, if the grandparent provides more than one half of the support of the grandson and the grandson's gross income is less than the exemption amount.

Citizenship and residency

Children who are U.S. citizens living abroad or non-U.S. citizens living in Canada or Mexico may qualify as a qualifying child, as is the case under the present-law dependency tests. A legally adopted child who does not satisfy the residency or citizenship requirement may nevertheless qualify as a qualifying child (provided other applicable requirements are met) if (1)

 $^{^{67}}$ Individuals who satisfy the present-law dependency tests and who are not qualifying children are referred to as "qualifying relatives" under the provision.

the child's principal place of abode is the taxpayer's home and (2) the taxpayer is a citizen or national of the United States.

Children of divorced or legally separated parents

The Senate amendment retains the present-law rule that allows a custodial parent to release the claim to a dependency exemption (and, therefore, the child credit) to a noncustodial parent. Thus, under the Senate amendment, custodial waivers that are in place and effective on the date of enactment will continue to be effective after the date of enactment if they continue to satisfy the waiver rule. In addition, the Senate amendment retains the custodial waiver rule for purposes of the dependency exemption (and, therefore, the child credit) for decrees of divorce or separate maintenance or written separation agreements that become effective after the date of enactment. Under the Senate amendment, as under present law, the custodial waiver rules do not affect eligibility with respect to children of divorced or legally separated parents for purposes of the earned income credit, the dependent care credit, and head of household filing status.

While retaining the substantive effect of the present-law waiver provisions, the Senate amendment modifies the mechanical structure of the rules. Under present law, a waiver may be made with respect to the dependency exemption. The waiver then automatically carries over to the child credit, because in order to claim the child credit, the taxpayer must be allowed the dependency exemption with respect to the child. Thus, if the dependency exemption is waived, the child credit applies to the taxpayer who is allowed the dependency exemption under the waiver.

The Senate amendment obtains the same result, but through a slightly modified statutory structure. Under the Senate amendment, if a waiver is made, the waiver applies for purposes of determining whether a child meets the definition of a qualifying child or a qualifying relative under section 152(c) or 152(d) as amended by the provision. While the definition of qualifying child is generally uniform, for purposes of the earned income credit, head of household status, and the dependent care credit, the definition of qualifying child is made without regard to the waiver provision. Thus, as under present law, a waiver that applies for the dependency exemption will also apply for the child credit, and the waiver will not apply for purposes of the other provisions.

Other provisions

The Senate amendment retains the applicable present-law requirements that a taxpayer identification number for a child be provided on the taxpayer's return. For purposes of the earned income credit, a qualifying child is required to have a social security number that is valid for employment in the United States (that is, the child must be a U.S. citizen, permanent resident, or have a certain type of temporary visa).

⁶⁸ See secs. 2(b)(1)(A)(i) and 32(c)(3)(A) as amended by the provision, and sec. 21(e)(5).

Effect of Senate amendment on particular tax benefits

Dependency exemption

For purposes of the dependency exemption, the Senate amendment defines a dependent as a qualifying child or a qualifying relative. The qualifying child test eliminates the support test (other than in the case of a child who provides more than one half of his or her own support), and replaces it with the residency requirement described above. Further, the present-law gross income test does not apply to a qualifying child. The rules relating to multiple support agreements do not apply with respect to qualifying children because the support test does not apply to them. Special tie-breaking rules (described above) apply if more than one taxpayer claims a qualifying child under the Senate amendment. These tie-breaking rules do not apply if a child constitutes a qualifying child with respect to multiple taxpayers, but only one eligible taxpayer actually claims the qualifying child.

The Senate amendment generally permits taxpayers to continue to apply the present-law dependency exemption rules to claim a dependency exemption for a qualifying relative who does not satisfy the qualifying child definition. In such cases, the present-law gross income and support tests, including the special rules for multiple support agreements, the special rules relating to income of handicapped dependents, and the special support test in case of students, continue to apply for purposes of the dependency exemption.

As is the case under present law, a child who provides over half of his or her own support is not considered a dependent of another taxpayer under the Senate amendment. Further, an individual shall not be treated as a dependent of any taxpayer if such individual has filed a joint return with the individual's spouse for the taxable year.

Earned income credit

In general, the Senate amendment adopts a definition of qualifying child that is similar to the present-law definition under the earned income credit. The present-law requirement that a foster child and certain other children be cared for as the taxpayer's own child is eliminated. The present-law tie-breaker rule applicable to the earned income credit is used for purposes of the uniform definition of qualifying child. The Senate amendment retains the present-law requirement that the taxpayer's principal place of abode must be in the United States.

Child credit

The present-law child credit generally uses the same relationships to define an eligible child as the uniform definition. The present-law requirement that a foster child and certain other children be cared for as the taxpayer's own child is eliminated. The age limitation under the Senate amendment retains the present-law requirement that the child must be under age 17, regardless of whether the child is disabled.

Dependent care credit

The present-law requirement that a taxpayer maintain a household in order to claim the dependent care credit is eliminated. Thus, if other applicable requirements are satisfied, a

taxpayer may claim the dependent care credit with respect to a child who lives with the taxpayer for more than one half the year, even if the taxpayer does not provide more than one half of the cost of maintaining the household.

The rules for determining eligibility for the credit with respect to an individual who is physically or mentally incapable of caring for himself or herself are amended to include a requirement that the taxpayer and the dependent have the same principal place of abode for more than one half the taxable year.

Head of household filing status

Under the Senate amendment, a taxpayer is eligible for head of household filing status only with respect to a qualifying child or an individual for whom the taxpayer is entitled to a dependency exemption. Under the Senate amendment, a taxpayer may claim head of household filing status if the taxpayer is unmarried (and not a surviving spouse) and pays more than one half of the cost of maintaining as his or her home a household which is the principal place of abode for more than one half the year of (1) a qualifying child, or (2) an individual for whom the taxpayer may claim a dependency exemption. As under present law, a taxpayer may claim head of household status with respect to a parent for whom the taxpayer may claim a dependency exemption and who does not live with the taxpayer, if certain requirements are satisfied.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement includes the Senate amendment provision with the following modifications. The conference agreement modifies the definition of adopted child, for purposes of determining whether an adopted child is treated as a child by blood, to mean an individual who is legally adopted by the taxpayer, or an individual who is lawfully placed with the taxpayer for legal adoption by the taxpayer.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004.

IV. REVENUE PROVISIONS

A. Extension of Customs User Fees (sec. 301 of the Senate amendment)

Present Law

Section 13031 of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA) (Pub. L. No. 99-272), authorized the Secretary of the Treasury to collect certain service fees. Section 412 (Pub. L. No. 107-296) of the Homeland Security Act of 2002 authorized the Secretary of the Treasury to delegate such authority to the Secretary of Homeland Security. Provided for under 19 U.S.C. 58c, these fees include: processing fees for air and sea passengers, commercial trucks, rail cars, private aircraft and vessels, commercial vessels, dutiable mail packages, barges and bulk carriers, merchandise, and Customs broker permits. COBRA was amended on several occasions but most recently by Pub. L. No. 108-121, which extended authorization for the collection of these fees through March 1, 2005. 69

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

The Senate amendment extends the fees authorized under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 through March 31, 2010.

Effective date.—The provision is effective on the date of enactment.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement does not include the Senate amendment provision.

40

⁶⁹ Sec. 201; 117 Stat. 1335.

V. OTHER PROVISIONS

A. Extension of the Research Credit (sec. 301 of the conference agreement and sec. 41 of the Code)

Present Law

Section 41 provided a research tax credited equal to 20 percent of the amount by which a taxpayer's qualified research expenses for a taxable year exceeded its base amount for that year. Taxpayers were permitted to elect an alternative incremental research credit regime in which the taxpayer was assigned a three-tiered fixed-base percentage and the credit rate likewise is reduced. Under the alternative credit regime, a credit rate of 2.65 percent applied to the extent that a taxpayer's current-year research expenses exceed a base amount computed by using a fixed-base percentage of one percent but do not exceed a base amount computed by using a fixed-base percentage of 1.5 percent. A credit rate of 3.2 percent applied to the extent that a taxpayer's current-year research expenses exceeded a base amount computed by using a fixedbase percentage of 1.5 percent but did not exceed a base amount computed by using a fixed-base percentage of two percent. A credit rate of 3.75 percent applied to the extent that a taxpayer's current-year research expenses exceeded a base amount computed by using a fixed-base percentage of two percent.

A 20-percent research tax credit also applied to the excess of (1) 100 percent of corporate cash expenses (including grants or contributions) paid for basic research conducted by universities (and certain nonprofit scientific research organizations) over (2) the sum of (a) the greater of two minimum basic research floors plus (b) an amount reflecting any decrease in nonresearch giving to universities by the corporation as compared to such giving during a fixedbase period, as adjusted for inflation.

The research tax credit expired and generally does not apply to amounts paid or incurred

after June 30, 2004. **House Bill**

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the present-law research credit to qualified amounts paid or incurred before January 1, 2006.

Effective date.—Effective for amounts paid or incurred after June 30, 2004.

B. Extension of Parity in the Application of Certain Limits to Mental Health Benefits (Sec. 302 of the conference agreement, sec. 9812 of the Code, sec. 712 of ERISA, and section 2705 of the PHSA)

Present Law

The Mental Health Parity Act of 1996 amended the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA") and the Public Health Service Act ("PHSA") to provide that group health plans that provide both medical and surgical benefits and mental health benefits cannot impose aggregate lifetime or annual dollar limits on mental health benefits that are not imposed on substantially all medical and surgical benefits. The provisions of the Mental Health Parity Act were initially effective with respect to plan years beginning on or after January 1, 1998, for a temporary period. Since enactment, the mental health parity requirements in ERISA and the PHSA have been extended on more than one occasion and currently are scheduled to expire with respect to benefits for services furnished on or after December 31, 2004.

The Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 added to the Code the requirements imposed under the Mental Health Parity Act, and imposed an excise tax on group health plans that fail to meet the requirements. The excise tax is equal to \$100 per day during the period of noncompliance and is generally imposed on the employer sponsoring the plan if the plan fails to meet the requirements. The maximum tax that can be imposed during a taxable year cannot exceed the lesser of 10 percent of the employer's group health plan expenses for the prior year or \$500,000. No tax is imposed if the Secretary determines that the employer did not know, and exercising reasonable diligence would not have known, that the failure existed.

The Code provisions were initially effective with respect to plan years beginning on or after January 1, 1998, for a temporary period. The Code provisions have been extended on a number of occasions, and expired with respect to benefits for services furnished after December 31, 2003.

House Bill

Senate Amendment

No provision.

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the ERISA and PHSA provisions relating to mental health parity to benefits for services furnished before January 1, 2006. The conference

⁷⁰ The excise tax does not apply to benefits for services furnished on or after September 30, 2001, and before January 10, 2002.

agreement also extends the Code provisions relating to mental health parity to benefits for services furnished on or after the date of enactment and before January 1, 2006. Thus, the excise tax on failures to meet the requirements imposed by the Code provisions does not apply after December 31, 2003, and before the date of enactment.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is effective on the date of enactment.

C. Extension of the Work Opportunity Tax Credit (sec. 303 of the conference agreement and sec. 51 of the Code)

Present Law

Work opportunity tax credit

Targeted groups eligible for the credit

The work opportunity tax credit is available on an elective basis for employers hiring individuals from one or more of eight targeted groups. The eight targeted groups are: (1) certain families eligible to receive benefits under the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Program; (2) high-risk youth; (3) qualified ex-felons; (4) vocational rehabilitation referrals; (5) qualified summer youth employees; (6) qualified veterans; (7) families receiving food stamps; and (8) persons receiving certain Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits.

A qualified ex-felon is an individual certified as: (1) haven been convicted of a felony under State or Federal law; (2) being a member of an economically disadvantaged family; and (3) having a hiring date within one year of release from prison or conviction.

Qualified wages

Generally, qualified wages are defined as cash wages paid by the employer to a member of a targeted group. The employer's deduction for wages is reduced by the amount of the credit.

Calculation of the credit

The credit equals 40 percent (25 percent for employment of 400 hours or less) of qualified first-year wages. Generally, qualified first-year wages are qualified wages (not in excess of \$6,000) attributable to service rendered by a member of a targeted group during the one-year period beginning with the day the individual began work for the employer. Therefore, the maximum credit per employee is \$2,400 (40 percent of the first \$6,000 of qualified first-year wages). With respect to qualified summer youth employees, the maximum credit is \$1,200 (40 percent of the first \$3,000 of qualified first-year wages).

Minimum employment period

No credit is allowed for qualified wages paid to employees who work less than 120 hours in the first year of employment.

Coordination of the work opportunity tax credit and the welfare-to-work tax credit

An employer cannot claim the work opportunity tax credit with respect to wages of any employee on which the employer claims the welfare-to-work tax credit.

Other rules

The work opportunity tax credit is not allowed for wages paid to a relative or dependent of the taxpayer. Similarly wages paid to replacement workers during a strike or lockout are not eligible for the work opportunity tax credit. Wages paid to any employee during any period for which the employer received on-the-job training program payments with respect to that employee are not eligible for the work opportunity tax credit. The work opportunity tax credit generally is not allowed for wages paid to individuals who had previously been employed by the employer. In addition, many other technical rules apply.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the work opportunity tax credit for two years (through December 31, 2005).

<u>Effective date</u>.—The extension of the work opportunity tax credit is effective for wages paid or incurred for individuals beginning work after December 31, 2003.

D. Extension of the Welfare-to-Work Tax Credit (sec. 303 of the conference agreement and sec. 51A f the Code)

Present Law

Welfare-to-work tax credit

Targeted group eligible for the credit

The welfare-to-work tax credit is available on an elective basis to employers of qualified long-term family assistance recipients. Qualified long-term family assistance recipients are: (1) members of a family that has received family assistance for at least 18 consecutive months ending on the hiring date; (2) members of a family that has received such family assistance for a total of at least 18 months (whether or not consecutive) after August 5, 1997 (the date of enactment of the welfare-to-work tax credit) if they are hired within 2 years after the date that the 18-month total is reached; and (3) members of a family who are no longer eligible for family

assistance because of either Federal or State time limits, if they are hired within 2 years after the Federal or State time limits made the family ineligible for family assistance.

Qualified wages

Qualified wages for purposes of the welfare-to-work tax credit are defined more broadly than the work opportunity tax credit. Unlike the definition of wages for the work opportunity tax credit which includes simply cash wages, the definition of wages for the welfare-to-work tax credit includes cash wages paid to an employee plus amounts paid by the employer for:
(1) educational assistance excludable under a section 127 program (or that would be excludable but for the expiration of sec. 127); (2) health plan coverage for the employee, but not more than the applicable premium defined under section 4980B(f)(4); and (3) dependent care assistance excludable under section 129. The employer's deduction for wages is reduced by the amount of the credit.

Calculation of the credit

The welfare-to-work tax credit is available on an elective basis to employers of qualified long-term family assistance recipients during the first two years of employment. The maximum credit is 35 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified first-year wages and 50 percent of the first \$10,000 of qualified second-year wages. Qualified first-year wages are defined as qualified wages (not in excess of \$10,000) attributable to service rendered by a member of the targeted group during the one-year period beginning with the day the individual began work for the employer. Qualified second-year wages are defined as qualified wages (not in excess of \$10,000) attributable to service rendered by a member of the targeted group during the one-year period beginning immediately after the first year of that individual's employment for the employer. The maximum credit is \$8,500 per qualified employee.

Minimum employment period

No credit is allowed for qualified wages paid to a member of the targeted group unless they work at least 400 hours or 180 days in the first year of employment.

Coordination of the work opportunity tax credit and the welfare-to-work tax credit

An employer cannot claim the work opportunity tax credit with respect to wages of any employee on which the employer claims the welfare-to-work tax credit.

Other rules

The welfare-to-work tax credit incorporates directly or by reference many of these other rules contained on the work opportunity tax credit.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the welfare-to-work tax credit for two years (through December 31, 2005).

<u>Effective date</u>. – The extension of the welfare-to-work tax credit is effective for wages paid or incurred for individuals beginning work after December 31, 2003.

E. Qualified Zone Academy Bonds (sec. 304 of the conference agreement and sec. 1397E of the Code)

Present Law

Generally, "qualified zone academy bonds" are bonds issued by a State or local government, provided that at least 95 percent of the proceeds are used for one or more qualified purposes with respect to a "qualified zone academy" and private entities have promised to contribute to the qualified zone academy certain equipment, technical assistance or training, employee services, or other property or services with a value equal to at least 10 percent of the bond proceeds. Qualified purposes with respect to any qualified zone academy are (1) rehabilitating or repairing the public school facility in which the academy is established, (2) providing equipment for use at such academy, (3) developing course materials for education at such academy, and (4) training teachers and other school personnel. A total of \$400 million of qualified zone academy bonds was authorized to be issued annually in calendar years 1998 through 2003.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the authority to issue qualified zone academy bonds through 2005.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The authority to issue qualified zone academy bonds is effective for obligations issued after December 31, 2003.

F. Extension of Cover Over of Excise Tax on Distilled Spirits to **Puerto Rico and Virgin Islands**

(sec. 305 of the conference agreement and sec. 7652 of the Code)

Present Law

A \$13.50 per proof gallon (a proof gallon is a liquid gallon consisting of 50 percent alcohol) excise tax is imposed on distilled spirits produced in or imported into the United States.

The Code provides for cover over (payment) to Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands of the excise tax imposed on rum imported into the United States, without regard to the country of origin. The amount of the cover over is limited under section 7652(f) to \$10.50 per proof gallon (\$13.25 per proof gallon during the period July 1, 1999 through December 31, 2003).

Thus, tax amounts attributable to rum produced in Puerto Rico are covered over to Puerto Rico. Tax amounts attributable to rum produced in the Virgin Islands are covered over to the Virgin Islands. Tax amounts attributable to rum produced in neither Puerto Rico nor the Virgin Islands are divided and covered over to the two possessions under a formula. All of the amounts covered over are subject to the limitation.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement temporarily suspends the \$10.50 per proof gallon limitation on the amount of excise taxes on rum covered over to Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Under the conference agreement, the cover over amount of \$13.25 per proof gallon is extended for rum brought into the United States after December 31, 2003 and before January 1, 2006. After December 31, 2005, the cover over amount reverts to \$10.50 per proof gallon.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for articles brought into the United States after December 31, 2003.

> G. Charitable Contributions of Computer Technology and Equipment **Used for Educational Purposes** (sec. 306 of the conference agreement and sec. 170 of the Code)

Present Law

A deduction by a corporation for charitable contributions of computer technology and equipment generally is limited to the corporation's basis in the property. However, certain corporations may claim a deduction in excess of basis for a qualified computer contribution.

Such enhanced deduction for qualified computer contributions expired for contributions made during any taxable year beginning after December 31, 2003.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the enhanced deduction for qualified computer contributions to contributions made during any taxable year beginning before January 1, 2006.

Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003.

H. Certain Expenses of Elementary and Secondary School Teachers (sec. 307 of the conference agreement and sec. 62 of the Code)

Present Law

In general, ordinary and necessary business expenses are deductible (sec. 162). However, in general, unreimbursed employee business expenses are deductible only as an itemized deduction and only to the extent that the individual's total miscellaneous deductions (including employee business expenses) exceed two percent of adjusted gross income. An individual's otherwise allowable itemized deductions may be further limited by the overall limitation on itemized deductions, which reduces itemized deductions for taxpayers with adjusted gross income in excess of \$142,700 (for 2004). In addition, miscellaneous itemized deductions are not allowable under the alternative minimum tax.

Certain expenses of eligible educators are allowed an above-the-line deduction. Specifically, for taxable years beginning in 2002 and 2003, an above-the-line deduction is allowed for up to \$250 annually of expenses paid or incurred by an eligible educator for books, supplies (other than nonathletic supplies for courses of instruction in health or physical education), computer equipment (including related software and services) and other equipment, and supplementary materials used by the eligible educator in the classroom. To be eligible for this deduction, the expenses must be otherwise deductible under 162 as a trade or business expense. A deduction is allowed only to the extent the amount of expenses exceeds the amount excludable from income under section 135 (relating to education savings bonds), 529(c)(1) (relating to qualified tuition programs), and section 530(d)(2) (relating to Coverdell education savings accounts).

An eligible educator is a kindergarten through grade 12 teacher, instructor, counselor, principal, or aide in a school for at least 900 hours during a school year. A school means any school which provides elementary education or secondary education, as determined under State law.

The above-the-line deduction for eligible educators is not allowed for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the above-the-line deduction for two years, i.e., for taxable years beginning in 2004 and 2005.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The conference agreement is effective for taxable years beginning in 2004 and 2005.

I. Expensing of Environmental Remediation Costs (sec. 308 of the conference agreement and sec. 198 of the Code)

Present Law

Taxpayers can elect to treat certain environmental remediation expenditures that would otherwise be chargeable to capital account as deductible in the year paid or incurred (sec. 198). The deduction applies for both regular and alternative minimum tax purposes. The expenditure must be incurred in connection with the abatement or control of hazardous substances at a qualified contaminated site.

A "qualified contaminated site" generally is any property that (1) is held for use in a trade or business, for the production of income, or as inventory and (2) is at a site on which there has been a release (or threat of release) or disposal of certain hazardous substances as certified by the appropriate State environmental agency (so called "brownfields"). However, sites that are identified on the national priorities list under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 cannot qualify as targeted areas.

Eligible expenditures were those paid or incurred before January 1, 2004.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the present law expensing provision for two years (through December 31, 2005).

Effective date.—Effective for expenses paid or incurred after December 31, 2003.

J. New York Liberty Zone Provisions (sec. 309 of the conference agreement and sec. 1400L of the Code)

Present Law

An aggregate of \$8 billion in tax-exempt private activity bonds is authorized for the purpose of financing the construction and repair of infrastructure in New York City ("Liberty Zone bonds"). The bonds must be issued before January 1, 2005.

Certain bonds used to fund facilities located in New York City are permitted one additional advance refunding before January 1, 2005 ("advance refunding bonds"). In addition to satisfying other requirements, the bond refunded must be (1) a State or local bond that is a general obligation of New York City, (2) a State or local bond issued by the New York Municipal Water Finance Authority or Metropolitan Transportation Authority of the City of New York, or (3) a qualified 501(c)(3) bond which is a qualified hospital bond issued by or on behalf of the State of New York or the City of New York. The maximum amount of advance refunding bonds is \$9 billion.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends authority to issue Liberty Zone bonds through December 31, 2009. The conference agreement also extends the additional advance refunding authority through December 31, 2005. In addition, the conference agreement provides that bonds of the Municipal Assistance Corporation are eligible for advance refunding.

The purpose in extending the New York Liberty Bond program through December 31, 2009, is to facilitate the full designation of New York Liberty Bond authority. Congress could consider a further extension of the New York Liberty Bond program beyond 2009 if circumstances justify such an extension.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The Liberty Zone bonds and general additional advance refunding provisions are effective on the date of enactment. The provision relating to the advance

refunding of bonds of the Municipal Assistance Corporation is effective as if included in the amendments made by section 301 of the Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002.

K. Tax Incentives for Investment in the District of Columbia (sec. 310 of the conference agreement and secs. 1400, 1400A, 1400B, 1400C, and 1400F of the Code)

Present Law

Certain economically depressed census tracts within the District of Columbia are designated as the District of Columbia Enterprise Zone (the "D.C. Zone") within which businesses and individual residents are eligible for special tax incentives. The designation expired on December 31, 2003.

First-time homebuyers of a principal residence in the District of Columbia are eligible for a nonrefundable tax credit of up to \$5,000 of the amount of the purchase price. The credit expired for property purchased after December 31, 2003.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the D.C. Zone designation and related tax incentives for two years. The conference agreement extends the first-time homebuyer credit for two years.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The extension of the D.C. Zone designation and related tax incentives is generally effective on January 1, 2004, except that the provision relating to tax-exempt financing incentives applies to obligations issued after the date of enactment.

L. Combined Employment Tax Reporting (sec. 311 of the conference agreement and sec. 6103 of the Code)

Present Law

Traditionally, Federal tax forms are filed with the Federal government and State tax forms are filed with individual States. This necessitates duplication of items common to both returns.

The Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 permitted implementation of a limited demonstration project to assess the feasibility and desirability of expanding combined Federal and State reporting. First, it was limited to the sharing of information between the State of Montana and the IRS. Second, it was limited to employment tax reporting. Third, it was limited to disclosure

of the name, address, TIN, and signature of the taxpayer, which is information common to both the Montana and Federal portions of the combined form. Fourth, it was limited to a period of five years (expiring August 5, 2002).

House	Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement provides authority through December 31, 2005, for any State to participate in a combined Federal and State employment tax reporting program, provided that the program has been approved by the Secretary.

Effective date.—The provision takes effect on the date of enactment.

M. Nonrefundable Personal Credits Allowed Against the
Alternative Minimum Tax
(sec. 312 of the conference agreement and sec. 26 of the Code)

Present Law

Present law provides for certain nonrefundable personal tax credits (i.e., the dependent care credit, the credit for the elderly and disabled, the adoption credit, the child tax credit, ⁷¹ the credit for interest on certain home mortgages, the HOPE Scholarship and Lifetime Learning credits, the credit for savers, and the D.C. first-time homebuyer credit).

For taxable years beginning in 2003, all the nonrefundable personal credits are allowed to the extent of the full amount of the individual's regular tax and alternative minimum tax.

For taxable years beginning after 2003, the credits (other than the adoption credit, child credit and credit for savers) are allowed only to the extent that the individual's regular income tax liability exceeds the individual's tentative minimum tax, determined without regard to the minimum tax foreign tax credit. The adoption credit, child credit, and IRA credit are allowed to the full extent of the individual's regular tax and alternative minimum tax.

House Bill

No p	rovision.
------	-----------

⁷¹ A portion of the child credit may be refundable.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the provision allowing the nonrefundable personal credits to the full extent of the regular tax and the alternative minimum tax for taxable years beginning in 2004 and 2005.

Effective date.—Taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003.

N. Extension of Credit for Electricity Produced from Certain Renewable Resources (sec. 313 of the conference agreement and sec. 45 of the Code)

Present Law

An income tax credit is allowed for the production of electricity from either qualified wind energy, qualified "closed-loop" biomass, or qualified poultry waste facilities. The amount of the credit is 1.8 cents per kilowatt hour for 2004. The credit amount is indexed for inflation.

The credit applies to electricity produced by a wind energy facility placed in service after December 31, 1993, and before January 1, 2004, to electricity produced by a closed-loop biomass facility placed in service after December 31, 1992, and before January 1, 2004, and to a poultry waste facility placed in service after December 31, 1999, and before January 1, 2004. The credit is allowable for production during the 10-year period after a facility is originally placed in service.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the placed in service date for wind energy facilities, "closed-loop" biomass facilities, and poultry waste facilities to include facilities placed in service prior to January 1, 2006.

Effective date.—Effective for facilities placed in service after December 31, 2003.

O. Suspension of 100-Percent-of-Net-Income Limitation on Percentage Depletion for Oil and Gas from Marginal Wells (202, 214 of the conference agreement and see, 6134 of the Code)

(sec. 314 of the conference agreement and sec. 613A of the Code)

Present Law

Percentage depletion method for oil and gas properties applies to independent producers and royalty owners. Generally, under the percentage depletion method, 15 percent of the taxpayer's gross income from an oil- or gas-producing property is allowed as a deduction in each taxable year. The amount deducted generally may not exceed 100 percent of the net income from the property in any year (the "net-income limitation"). The 100-percent net-income limitation for marginal wells is suspended for taxable years beginning after December 31, 1997, and before January 1, 2004.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the suspension of the net-income limitation for marginal wells for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2006.

Effective date.—The provision is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003.

P. Indian Employment Tax Credit (sec. 315 of the conference agreement and sec. 45A of the Code)

Present Law

In general, a credit against income tax liability is allowed to employers for the first \$20,000 of qualified wages and qualified employee health insurance costs paid or incurred by the employer with respect to certain employees (sec. 45A). The credit is equal to 20 percent of the excess of eligible employee qualified wages and health insurance costs during the current year over the amount of such wages and costs incurred by the employer during 1993. The credit is an incremental credit, such that an employer's current-year qualified wages and qualified employee health insurance costs (up to \$20,000 per employee) are eligible for the credit only to the extent that the sum of such costs exceeds the sum of comparable costs paid during 1993. No deduction is allowed for the portion of the wages equal to the amount of the credit.

The wage credit is available for wages paid or incurred on or after January 1, 1994, in taxable years that begin before January 1, 2005.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the Indian employment credit incentive for one year (to taxable years beginning before January 1, 2006).

Effective date.—The provision is effective on the date of enactment.

Q. Accelerated Depreciation for Business Property on Indian Reservations (sec. 316 of the conference agreement and sec. 168(j) of the Code)

Present Law

With respect to certain property used in connection with the conduct of a trade or business within an Indian reservation, depreciation deductions under section 168(j) will be determined using the following recovery periods:

3-year property	2 years
5-year property	3 years
7-year property	4 years
10-year property	6 years
15-year property	9 years
20-year property	12 years
Nonresidential real property	22 years

"Qualified Indian reservation property" eligible for accelerated depreciation includes property which is (1) used by the taxpayer predominantly in the active conduct of a trade or business within an Indian reservation, (2) not used or located outside the reservation on a regular basis, (3) not acquired (directly or indirectly) by the taxpayer from a person who is related to the taxpayer (within the meaning of section 465(b)(3)(C)), and (4) described in the recovery-period table above. In addition, property is not "qualified Indian reservation property" if it is placed in service for purposes of conducting gaming activities. Certain "qualified infrastructure property" may be eligible for the accelerated depreciation even if located outside an Indian reservation, provided that the purpose of such property is to connect with qualified infrastructure property located within the reservation (e.g., roads, power lines, water systems, railroad spurs, and communications facilities).

The depreciation deduction allowed for regular tax purposes is also allowed for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. The accelerated depreciation for Indian reservations is available with respect to property placed in service on or after January 1, 1994, and before January 1, 2005.



No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends eligibility for the special depreciation periods to property placed in service before January 1, 2006.

Effective date.—The provision is effective on the date of enactment.

R. Disclosure of Return Information Relating to Student Loans (sec. 317 of the conference agreement and sec. 6103(l)(13) of the Code)

Present Law

An exception to the general rule prohibiting disclosure is provided for disclosure to the Department of Education (but not to contractors thereof) to establish an appropriate repayment amount for an applicable student loan. The Department of Education disclosure authority is scheduled to expire after December 31, 2004.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the disclosure authority relating to the disclosure of return information to carry out income-contingent repayment of student loans. Under the conference agreement, no disclosures can be made after December 31, 2005.

Effective date.—The provision is effective on the date of enactment.

S. Credit for Qualified Electric Vehicles (sec. 318 of the conference agreement and sec. 30 of the Code)

Present Law

A 10-percent tax credit is provided for the cost of a qualified electric vehicle, up to a maximum credit of \$4,000. A qualified electric vehicle generally is a motor vehicle that is powered primarily by an electric motor drawing current from rechargeable batteries, fuel cells, or

other portable sources of electrical current. The full amount of the credit is available for purchases prior to 2004. The credit phases down in the years 2004 through 2006, and is unavailable for purchases after December 31, 2006. Under the phase down, the credit for 2004 is 75 percent of the otherwise allowable credit.

House	Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

Repeals the phase down of the allowable tax credit for electric vehicles in 2004 and 2005. Thus, a taxpayer who purchases a qualifying vehicle may claim 100 percent of the otherwise allowable credit for vehicles purchased in 2004 and 2005. For vehicles purchased in 2006 the credit remains at 25 percent of the otherwise allowable amount as under present law.

Effective date.—Effective for vehicles placed in service after December 31, 2003.

T. Deduction for Qualified Clean-Fuel Vehicle Property (sec. 319 of the conference agreement and sec. 179A of the Code)

Present Law

Certain costs of qualified clean-fuel vehicle may be expensed and deducted when such property is placed in service. Qualified clean-fuel vehicle property includes motor vehicles that use certain clean-burning fuels (natural gas, liquefied natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas, hydrogen, electricity and any other fuel at least 85 percent of which is methanol, ethanol, any other alcohol or ether). The maximum amount of the deduction is \$50,000 for a truck or van with a gross vehicle weight over 26,000 pounds or a bus with seating capacities of at least 20 adults; \$5,000 in the case of a truck or van with a gross vehicle weight between 10,000 and 26,000 pounds; and \$2,000 in the case of any other motor vehicle. The deduction phases down in the years 2004 through 2006, and is unavailable for purchases after December 31, 2006. Under the phase down, the deduction permitted for 2004 is 75 percent of the otherwise allowable amount.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

Repeals the phase down of the allowable deduction for clean-fuel vehicles in 2004 and 2005. Thus, a taxpayer who purchases a qualifying vehicle may claim 100 percent of the otherwise allowable deduction for vehicles purchased in 2004 and 2005. For vehicles purchased in 2006 the deduction remains at 25 percent of the otherwise allowable amount as under present law.

Effective date.—Effective for vehicles placed in service after December 31, 2003.

U. Disclosures Relating to Terrorist Activities (sec. 320 of the conference agreement and sec. 6103 of the Code)

Present Law

In connection with terrorist activities, the IRS was permitted to disclose return information, other than taxpayer return information, to officers and employees of Federal law enforcement upon a written request. The Code required the request to be made by the head of the Federal law enforcement agency (or his delegate) involved in the response to or investigation of terrorist incidents, threats, or activities, and set forth the specific reason or reasons why such disclosure may be relevant to a terrorist incident, threat, or activity. Disclosure of the information was permitted to officers and employees of the Federal law enforcement agency who were personally and directly involved in the response to or investigation of terrorist incidents, threats, or activities. The information was to be used by such officers and employees solely for such response or investigation.⁷²

The Code permitted the head of the Federal law enforcement agency to redisclose the information to officers and employees of State and local law enforcement personally and directly engaged in the response to or investigation of the terrorist incident, threat, or activity. The State or local law enforcement agency was required to be part of an investigative or response team with the Federal law enforcement agency for these disclosures to be made. ⁷³

Return information includes a taxpayer's identity. ⁷⁴ If a taxpayer's identity is taken from a return or other information filed with or furnished to the IRS by or on behalf of the taxpayer, it is taxpayer return information. Since taxpayer return information was not covered by this disclosure authorization, taxpayer identity so obtained could not be disclosed under this authority and thus associated with the other information being provided.

The Code also allowed the IRS to disclose return information (other than taxpayer return information) upon the written request of an officer or employee of the Department of Justice or

⁷² Sec. 6103(i)(7)(A).

⁷³ Sec. 6103(i)(7)(A)(ii).

⁷⁴ Sec. 6103(b)(2)(A).

Treasury who is appointed by the President with the advice and consent of the Senate, or who is the Director of the U.S. Secret Service, if such individual is responsible for the collection and analysis of intelligence and counterintelligence concerning any terrorist incident, threat, or activity. Taxpayer identity information for this purpose was not considered taxpayer return information. Such written request was required to set forth the specific reason or reasons why such disclosure may be relevant to a terrorist incident, threat, or activity. Disclosures under this authority were permitted to be made to those officers and employees of the Department of Justice, Treasury, and Federal intelligence agencies who were personally and directly engaged in the collection or analysis of intelligence and counterintelligence information or investigation concerning any terrorist incident, threat, or activity. Such disclosures were permitted solely for the use of such officers and employees in such investigation, collection, or analysis.

The IRS, on its own initiative, was permitted to disclose in writing return information (other than taxpayer return information) that may be related to a terrorist incident, threat, or activity to the extent necessary to apprise the head of the appropriate investigating Federal law enforcement agency. Taxpayer identity information for this purpose was not considered taxpayer return information. The head of the agency was permitted to redisclose such information to officers and employees of such agency to the extent necessary to investigate or respond to the terrorist incident, threat, or activity.

If taxpayer return information was sought, the disclosure was required to be made pursuant to the *ex parte* order of a Federal district court judge or magistrate.

No disclosures may be made under these provisions after December 31, 2003.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends the disclosure authority relating to terrorist activities. Under the conference agreement, no disclosures can be made after December 31, 2005.

The conference agreement also makes a technical change to clarify that a taxpayer's identity is not treated as taxpayer return information for purposes of disclosures to law enforcement agencies regarding terrorist activities.

⁷⁵ Sec. 6103(i)(7)(B).

⁷⁶ Sec. 6103(i)(3)(C).

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision extending authority is effective for disclosures made on or after the date of enactment. The technical change is effective as if included in section 201 of the Victims of Terrorism Tax Relief Act of 2001.

V. Extension of Archer Medical Savings Accounts ("MSAs") (sec. 322 of the conference agreement and sec. 220 of the Code)

Present Law

In general

Within limits, contributions to an Archer MSA are deductible in determining adjusted gross income if made by an eligible individual and are excludable from gross income and wages for employment tax purposes if made by the employer of an eligible individual. Earnings on amounts in an Archer MSA are not currently taxable. Distributions from an Archer MSA for medical expenses are not includible in gross income. Distributions not used for medical expenses are includible in gross income. In addition, distributions not used for medical expenses are subject to an additional 15-percent tax unless the distribution is made after age 65, death, or disability.

Eligible individuals

Archer MSAs are available to employees covered under an employer-sponsored high deductible plan of a small employer and self-employed individuals covered under a high deductible health plan. An employer is a small employer if it employed, on average, no more than 50 employees on business days during either the preceding or the second preceding year. An individual is not eligible for an Archer MSA if he or she is covered under any other health plan in addition to the high deductible plan.

Tax treatment of and limits on contributions

Individual contributions to an Archer MSA are deductible (within limits) in determining adjusted gross income (i.e., "above-the-line"). In addition, employer contributions are excludable from gross income and wages for employment tax purposes (within the same limits), except that this exclusion does not apply to contributions made through a cafeteria plan. In the case of an employee, contributions can be made to an Archer MSA either by the individual or by the individual's employer.

The maximum annual contribution that can be made to an Archer MSA for a year is 65 percent of the deductible under the high deductible plan in the case of individual coverage and 75 percent of the deductible in the case of family coverage.

⁷⁷ Self-employed individuals include more than two-percent shareholders of S corporations who are treated as partners for purposes of fringe benefit rules pursuant to section 1372.

Definition of high deductible plan

A high deductible plan is a health plan with an annual deductible of at least \$1,700 and no more than \$2,600 in the case of individual coverage and at least \$3,450 and no more than \$5,150 in the case of family coverage. In addition, the maximum out-of-pocket expenses with respect to allowed costs (including the deductible) must be no more than \$3,450 in the case of individual coverage and no more than \$6,300 in the case of family coverage. A plan does not fail to qualify as a high deductible plan merely because it does not have a deductible for preventive care as required by State law. A plan does not qualify as a high deductible health plan if substantially all of the coverage under the plan is for permitted coverage (as described above). In the case of a self-insured plan, the plan must in fact be insurance (e.g., there must be appropriate risk shifting) and not merely a reimbursement arrangement.

Cap on taxpayers utilizing Archer MSAs and expiration of pilot program

The number of taxpayers benefiting annually from an Archer MSA contribution is limited to a threshold level (generally 750,000 taxpayers). The number of Archer MSAs established has not exceeded the threshold level.

After 2003, no new contributions may be made to Archer MSAs except by or on behalf of individuals who previously had Archer MSA contributions and employees who are employed by a participating employer.

Trustees of Archer MSAs are generally required to make reports to the Treasury by August 1 regarding Archer MSAs established by July 1 of that year. If any year is a cut-off year, the Secretary is required to make and publish such determination by October 1 of such year.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement extends Archer MSAs through December 31, 2005. The conference agreement also provides that the reports required by MSA trustees for 2004 are treated as timely if made within 90 days after the date of enactment. In addition, the determination of whether 2004 is a cut-off year and the publication of such determination is to be made within 120 days of the date of enactment. If 2004 is a cut-off year, the cut-off date will be the last day of such 120-day period.

⁷⁸ These dollar amounts are for 2004. These amounts are indexed for inflation, rounded to the nearest \$50.

<u>Effective date</u>.—The provision is generally effective on January 1, 2004. The provisions relating to reports and the determination by the Secretary are effective on the date of enactment.

W. Extension of Joint Review of Strategic Plans and Budget for the Internal Revenue Service (sec. 321 of the conference agreement and secs. 8021 and 8022 of the Code)

Present Law

The Code required the Joint Committee on Taxation to conduct a joint review⁷⁹ of the strategic plans and budget of the IRS from 1999 through 2003.⁸⁰ The Code also required the Joint Committee to provide an annual report⁸¹ from 1999 through 2003 with respect to:

- Strategic and business plans for the IRS;
- Progress of the IRS in meeting its objectives;
- The budget for the IRS and whether it supports its objectives;
- Progress of the IRS in improving taxpayer service and compliance;
- Progress of the IRS on technology modernization; and
- The annual filing season.

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement requires that the Joint Committee conduct a joint review before June 1, 2005. The conference agreement also requires that the Joint Committee provide

⁷⁹ The joint review was required to include two members of the majority and one member of the minority of the Senate Committees on Finance, Appropriations, and Governmental Affairs, and of the House Committees on Ways and Means, Appropriations, and Government Reform and Oversight.

⁸⁰ Sec. 8021(f).

⁸¹ Sec. 8022(3)(C).

an annual report with respect to such joint review, and specifies that the content of the annual report is the matters addressed in the joint review. 82

Effective date. – The conference agreement is effective on the date of enactment.

 $^{^{82}\,}$ Accordingly, the provision deletes the specific list of matters required to be covered in the annual report.

VI. TAX TECHNICAL CORRECTIONS (secs. 401-408 of the conference agreement)

Present Law

Certain recently enacted tax legislation needs technical, conforming, and clerical amendments in order properly to carry out the intention of the Congress. 83

House Bill

No provision.

Senate Amendment

No provision.

Conference Agreement

The conference agreement includes technical corrections to recently enacted tax legislation. Except as otherwise provided, the amendments made by the technical corrections contained in the conference agreement take effect as if included in the original legislation to which each amendment relates. The following is a description of the provisions contained in the technical corrections title:

<u>Amendments Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003</u>

Additional tax relating to health savings accounts.—Under present law, section 26(b) provides that "regular tax liability" does not include certain "additional taxes" and similar amounts. Under present law, regular tax liability does not include the additional tax on Archer MSA distributions not used for qualified medical expenses (sec. 220(f)(4)). The provision adds to the list of such amounts the additional tax on distributions not used for qualified medical expenses (sec. 223(f)(4)) under the rules relating to health savings accounts.

Health coverage tax credit.—Under present law, section 35(g)(3) provides that any amount distributed from an Archer MSA will not be taken into account for purposes of determining the amount of health coverage tax credit ("HCTC") an individual is eligible to receive. Under the provision, section 35(g)(3) is amended to provide that amounts distributed from health savings accounts are not to be taken into account for purposes of determining the amount of HCTC an individual is entitled to receive.

⁸³ Tax technical corrections legislation, the "Tax Technical Corrections Act of 2003," was introduced in the House of Representatives (H.R. 3654) on December 8, 2003, and in the Senate (S. 1984) on December 9, 2003.

Amendments Related to the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003

<u>Dividends taxed at capital gain rates.</u>—Section 302 of the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003 ("JGTRRA") generally provides that qualified dividend income of taxpayers other than corporations is taxed at the same tax rates as the net capital gain. The conference agreement makes the following amendments to the provisions adopted by that section:⁸⁴

The provision clarifies that the determination of net capital gain, for purposes of determining the amount taxed at the 25-percent rate (section 1(h)(1)(D)(i)), is made without regard to qualified dividend income.

Under present law, the deduction for estate taxes paid on gain that is income in respect of a decedent reduces the amount of gain otherwise taken into account in computing the amount eligible for the lower tax rates on net capital gain (sec. 691(c)(4)). Since it is not entirely clear under present law whether this provision also applies to qualified dividends eligible for the lower tax rates on net capital gain, the conference agreement clarifies that the provision does so apply.

The provision clarifies that the extraordinary dividend rule applies to trusts and estates as well as individuals.

The provision rewrites portions of the provisions relating to the treatment of dividends received from a regulated investment company ("RIC") or a real estate investment trust ("REIT") to set forth the rules directly rather than be reference to rules applicable to dividends received by corporate shareholders.

The provision provides that all distributions by a RIC or REIT of the earnings and profits from C corporation years can be treated as qualifying dividends eligible for the lower rate.

The provision extends the 60-day period for notifying shareholders of the amount of the qualified dividend income distributed by a RIC or REIT for taxable years ending on or before November 30, 2003, to the date the 1099-DIV for 2003 is required.

The provision provides that, in the case of partnerships, S corporations, common trust funds, trusts, and estates, section 302 of JGTRRA applies to taxable years ending after December 31, 2002, except that dividends received by the entity prior to January 1, 2003, are not treated as qualified dividend income. JGTRRA provided a similar rule in the case of RICs and REITs.

<u>Satisfaction of certain holding period requirements if stock is acquired on the day</u> <u>before ex-dividend date</u>.—Under several similar holding period requirements relating to the tax consequences of receiving dividends, a taxpayer who acquires stock the day before the ex-dividend date cannot satisfy these holding period requirements with respect to the dividend. The

⁸⁴ IR-2004-22 (Feb. 19, 2004) announced that the IRS agreed to make the technical correction provisions relating to dividends contained in the Technical Corrections Act of 2003, as introduced, available to taxpayers in advance of their passage.

conference agreement modifies the stock holding period requirements to permit taxpayers to satisfy the requirements when they acquire stock on the day before the ex-dividend date of the stock. Specifically, the conference agreement modifies the holding period requirement for the dividends-received deduction under section 246(c) (as modified by section 1015 of the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997) by changing from 90 days to 91 days (and from 180 days to 181 days in the case of certain dividends on preferred stock) the period within which a taxpayer may satisfy the requirement. In addition, the conference agreement modifies the holding period requirement for foreign tax credits with respect to dividends under section 901(k) (enacted in section 1053 of the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997) by changing from 30 days to 31 days (and from 90 days to 91 days in the case of certain dividends on preferred stock) the period within which a taxpayer may satisfy the requirement. The conference agreement modifies the holding period requirement for dividends to be taxed at the tax rates applicable to net capital gain under section 1(h)(11) (enacted in section 302 of JGTRRA) by changing from 120 days to 121 days (and from 180 days to 181 days in the case of certain dividends on preferred stock) the period within which a taxpayer may satisfy the requirement.

Amendments Related to the Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002

Bonus depreciation.—Section 101 of the Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002 ("JCWA") provides generally for 30-percent additional first-year depreciation for qualifying property. Qualifying property is defined to include certain property subject to the capitalization rules of section 263A by reason of having an estimated production period exceeding 2 years or an estimated production period exceeding 1 year and a cost exceeding \$1 million (secs. 168(k)(2)(B)(i)(III) and 263A(f)(1)(B)(ii) or (iii)). An unintended interpretation of this rule could preclude property from qualifying for bonus depreciation if it meets this description but is subject to the capitalization rules of section 263A by reason of section 263A(f)(1)(B)(i) (having a long useful life). The provision clarifies that qualifying property includes such property that is subject to the capitalization rules of section 263A and is described in the provisions requiring an estimated production period exceeding 2 years or an estimated production period exceeding 1 year and a cost exceeding \$1 million.

Section 101 of JCWA provides a binding contract rule in determining property that qualifies for it. The requirements that must be satisfied in order for property to qualify include that (1) the original use of the property must commence with the taxpayer on or after September 11, 2001, (2) the taxpayer must purchase the property after September 10, 2001, and before September 11, 2004, and (3) no binding written contract for the acquisition of the property is in effect before September 11, 2001 (or, in the case of self-constructed property, manufacture, construction, or production of the property does not begin before September 11, 2001). In addition, JCWA provides a special rule in the case of certain leased property. In the case of any property that is originally placed in service by a person and that is sold to the taxpayer and leased back to such person by the taxpayer within three months after the date that the property was placed in service, the property is treated as originally placed in service by the taxpayer not earlier than the date that the property is used under the leaseback. JCWA did not specifically address the syndication of a lease by the lessor.

The provision clarifies that property qualifying for additional first-year depreciation does not include any property if the user or a related party to the user or owner of such property had a

written binding contract in effect for the acquisition of the property at any time on or before September 10, 2001 (or, in the case of self-constructed property, the manufacture, construction, or production of the property began on or before September 10, 2001). For example, if a taxpayer sells to a related party property that was under construction on or prior to September 10, 2001, the property does not qualify for the additional first-year depreciation deduction. Similarly, if a taxpayer sells to a related party property that was subject to a binding written contract on or prior to September 10, 2001, the property does not qualify for the additional first-year depreciation deduction. As a further example, if a taxpayer sells property and leases the property back in a sale-leaseback arrangement, and the lessee had a binding written contract in effect for the acquisition of such property on or prior to September 10, 2001, then the lessor is not entitled to the additional first-year depreciation deduction.

In addition, the provision provides that if property is originally placed in service by a lessor (including by operation of section Code 168(k)(2)(D)(i)), such property is sold within three months after the date that the property was placed in service, and the user of such property does not change, then the property is treated as originally placed in service by the taxpayer not earlier than the date of such sale.

<u>Five-year carryback of net operating losses ("NOLs")</u>.—Section 102 of JCWA temporarily extends the NOL carryback period to five years (from two years, or three years in certain cases) for NOLs arising in taxable years ending in 2001 and 2002. The Act was enacted in March 2002, after some taxpayers had filed returns for 2001.

The provision (1) clarifies that only the NOLs arising in taxable years ending in 2001 and 2002 qualify for the 5-year period, and (2) provides that any election to forego any carrybacks of NOLs arising in 2001 or 2002 can be revoked prior to November 1, 2002. The provision also allows taxpayers until November 1, 2002, to use the tentative carryback adjustment procedures of section 6411 for NOLs arising in 2001 and 2002 (without regard to the 12-month limitation in section 6411). In addition, the provision clarifies that an election to disregard the 5-year carryback for certain NOLs is treated as timely made if made before November 1, 2002 (notwithstanding that section 172(j) requires the election to be made by the due date (including extensions) for filing the taxpayer's return for the year of the loss).

The provision also makes several clerical changes to the NOL provisions relating to the alternative minimum tax.

<u>New York Liberty Zone bonus depreciation</u>—Section 301 of JCWA provides tax benefits for the area of New York City damaged in terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001 (an area defined in the provision and named the New York Liberty Zone). Under these rules, an additional first-year depreciation deduction is allowed equal to 30 percent of the adjusted basis of qualified New York Liberty Zone ("Liberty Zone") property. A taxpayer is allowed to elect out of the additional first-year depreciation for any class of property for any taxable year. In

67

⁸⁵ The corrections are consistent with the guidance issued by the IRS (Rev. Proc. 2002-40, 2002-1 C. B. 1096).

addition, the Act provides a special rule in the case of certain leased property. In the case of any property that is originally placed in service by a person and that is sold to the taxpayer and leased back to such person by the taxpayer within three months after the date that the property was placed in service, the property would be treated as originally placed in service by the taxpayer not earlier than the date that the property is used under the leaseback. JCWA did not specifically address the syndication of a lease by the lessor.

The provision clarifies that property qualifying for additional first-year depreciation does not include any property if the user or a related party to the user or owner of such property had a written binding contract in effect for the acquisition of the property at any time before September 11, 2001 (or in the case of self constructed property the manufacture, construction, or production of the property began before September 11, 2001). In addition, the provision provides that if property is originally placed in service by a lessor (including by operation of section 168(k)(2)(D)(i)), such property is sold within three months after the date that the property was placed in service, and the user of such property does not change, then the property is treated as originally placed in service by the taxpayer not earlier than the date of such sale.

New York Liberty Zone expensing.—Section 301 of JCWA increases the amount a taxpayer may expense under section 179 to the lesser of \$35,000 or the amount of Liberty Zone property placed in service for the year. In addition, section 301(a) of the Act states that if property qualifies for both the general additional first-year depreciation and Liberty Zone additional first-year depreciation, it is deemed to be eligible for the general additional first-year depreciation and is not considered Liberty Zone property (i.e., only one 30-percent additional first-year depreciation deduction is allowed). Because only Liberty Zone property is eligible for the increased section 179 expensing amount, this rule has the unintended consequence of denying the increased section 179 expensing to Liberty Zone property. The provision corrects this unintended result (such that qualifying Liberty Zone property qualifies for both the 30-percent additional first-year depreciation and the additional section 179 expensing).

<u>Provide election out of Liberty Zone five-year depreciation for leasehold</u> <u>improvements.</u>—Section 1400L(c), as added by section 301 of JCWA, provides for a 5-year recovery period for depreciation of qualified New York Liberty Zone leasehold improvement property that is placed in service after September 10, 2001, and before January 1, 2007 (and meets certain other requirements). Unlike the rules relating to bonus depreciation and to Liberty Zone bonus depreciation property (see Code sections 168(k)(2)(C)(iii) and 1400L(b)(2)(C)(iv)), which permit a taxpayer to elect out, this 5-year depreciation rule is not elective. The provision adds a rule permitting taxpayers to elect out of the 5-year recovery period.

<u>Interest rate for defined benefit plan funding requirements</u>.—Section 405(c) of JCWA increases the interest rate used in determining the amount of unfunded vested benefits for PBGC variable rate premium purposes for plan years beginning in 2002 or 2003 from 85 percent to 100 percent of the interest rate on 30-year Treasury securities for the month preceding the month in which the applicable plan year begins. The provision makes conforming changes so that this rule applies for purposes of notices and reporting required under Title IV of ERISA with respect to underfunded plans.

<u>Exclusion for employer-provided adoption assistance</u>.—The provision corrects an incorrect reference in a technical correction to a provision relating to the exclusion for employer-provided adoption assistance.

Amendments Related to the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001

<u>Coverdell education savings accounts</u>.—The provision corrects the application of a conforming change to the rule coordinating Coverdell education savings accounts with Hope and Lifetime Learning credits and qualified tuition programs. The conforming change was made in connection with the expansion of Coverdell education savings accounts to elementary and secondary education expenses in section 401 of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 "(EGTRRA").

Base period for cost-of-living adjustments to Indian employment credit rule.—The Indian employment credit is not available with respect to an employee whose wages exceed \$30,000 (sec. 45A). For years after 1994, this \$30,000 amount is adjusted for cost-of-living increases at the same time, and in the same manner, as cost-of-living adjustments to the dollar limits on qualified retirement plan benefits and contributions under section 415. Section 611 of EGTRAA increases the dollar limits under section 415 and adds a new base period for making cost-of-living adjustments. The provision clarifies that the pre-existing base period applies for purposes of the Indian employment credit.

Rounding rule for retirement plan benefit and contribution limits.—Section 611of EGTRRA increases the dollar limits on qualified retirement plan benefits and contributions under Code section 415, and adds a new rounding rule for cost-of-living adjustments to the dollar limit on annual additions to defined contribution plans. This new rounding rule is in addition to a pre-existing rounding rule that applies to benefits payable under defined benefit plans. The provision clarifies that the pre-existing rounding rule applies for purposes of other Code provisions that refer to Code section 415 and do not contain a specific rounding rule.

<u>Excise tax on nondeductible contributions</u>.—Under section 614 of EGTRRA, the limits on deductions for employer contributions to qualified retirement plans do not apply to elective deferrals, and elective deferrals are not taken into account in applying the deduction limits to other contributions. The provision makes a conforming change to the Code provision that applies an excise tax to nondeductible contributions.

SIMPLE plan contributions for domestic or similar workers.—Section 637 of EGTRRA provides an exception to the application of the excise tax on nondeductible retirement plan contributions in the case of contributions to a SIMPLE IRA or SIMPLE section 401(k) plan that are nondeductible solely because they are not made in connection with a trade or business of the employer (e.g., contributions on behalf of a domestic worker). Section 637 of EGTRRA did not specifically modify the present-law requirement that compensation for purposes of determining contributions to a SIMPLE plan must be wages subject to income tax withholding, even though wages paid to domestic workers are not subject to income tax withholding. The provision revises the definition of compensation for purposes of determining contributions to a SIMPLE plan to include wages paid to domestic workers, even though such amounts are not subject to income tax withholding.

Rollovers among various types of retirement plans.—Section 641 of EGTRRA expanded the rollover rules to allow rollovers among various types of tax-favored retirement plans. The provision makes a conforming change to the cross-reference to the rollovers rules in the Code provision relating to qualified retirement annuities.

Amendment Related to the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000

Tax treatment of options and securities futures contracts.—The provision clarifies that the Secretary of the Treasury has the authority to prescribe regulations regarding the status of an option or a contract the value of which is determined directly or indirectly by reference to an index which becomes (or ceases to be) a narrow-based security index (as defined in section 1256(g)(6)). This authority includes, but is not limited to, regulations that provide for preserving the status of such an option or contract as appropriate.

Amendments Related to the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997

Qualified tuition programs.—Section 211 of the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 modified section 529(c)(5), relating to gift tax rules for qualified tuition programs, but did not include in the statutory language the requirement that, upon a change in the designated beneficiary of the program, the new beneficiary must be a member of the family of the old beneficiary for gift taxes not to apply. The legislative history for the provision stated that the new beneficiary had to be of the same generation as the old beneficiary and a member of the family of the old beneficiary for gift taxes not to apply. The provision clarifies that the gift taxes apply unless the new beneficiary is of the same (or higher) generation than the old beneficiary and is a member of the family of the old beneficiary.

<u>Coverdell education savings accounts</u>.—The provision corrects section 530(d)(4)(B)(iii), relating to Coverdell education savings accounts, by substituting for the undefined term "account holder" the defined term "designated beneficiary."

Constructive sale exception.—Section 1001(a) of the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997 provides an exception from constructive sale treatment for any transaction that is closed before the end of the thirtieth day after the close of the taxable year in which the transaction was entered into, provided certain requirements are met after closing the transaction (section 1259(c)(3)). In the case of positions that are reestablished following a closed transaction but prior to satisfying the requirements for the exception from constructive sale treatment, the exception applies in a similar manner if the reestablished position itself is closed and similar requirements are met after closing the reestablished position. The provision clarifies that the exception applies in the same manner to all closed transactions, including reestablished positions that are closed.

Basis adjustments for OZAB held by S corporation.—Under present law, a shareholder of an S corporation that is an eligible financial institution may claim a credit with respect to a qualified zone academy bond ("QZAB") held by the S corporation. The amount of the credit is included in gross income of the shareholder. An unintended interpretation of these rules would be that the shareholder's basis in the stock of the S corporation is increased by the amount of the income inclusion, notwithstanding that the benefit of the credit flows directly to the shareholder rather than to the corporation, and the corporation has no additional assets to support the basis

increase. The provision clarifies that the basis of stock in an S corporation is not affected by the OZAB credit.

<u>Capital gains and AMT</u>.—The provision provides that the maximum amount of adjusted net capital gain eligible for the five-percent rate under the alternative minimum tax is the excess of the maximum amount of taxable income that may be taxed at a rate of less than 25 percent under the regular tax (for example, \$56,800 for a joint return in 2003)) over the taxable income reduced by the adjusted net capital gain.

The provision may be illustrated by the following example:

For example, assume that a married couple with no dependents in 2003 has \$32,100 of salary, \$82,000 of long-term capital gain from the sale of stock, \$73,000 of itemized deductions consisting entirely of state and local taxes and allowable miscellaneous itemized deductions. For purposes of the regular tax, the taxable income is \$35,000 (\$32,100 plus \$82,000 minus \$73,000 minus \$6,100 deduction for personal exemptions). For purposes of the alternative minimum tax, the taxable excess is \$56,100 (\$32,100 plus \$82,000 less the \$58,000 exemption amount).

Under present law, the amount taxed under the regular tax at five percent is \$35,000 (the lesser of (i) taxable income (\$35,000), (ii) adjusted net capital gain (\$82,000), or (iii) the excess of the maximum amount taxed at the 10- and 15-percent rates (\$56,800 in 2003) over the ordinary taxable income (zero)). Thus, the regular tax is \$1,750.

Under present law, \$35,000 is taxed at five percent in computing the alternative minimum tax (the lesser of (i) amount of the adjusted net capital gain which is taxed at the five percent under the regular tax (\$35,000), or (ii) the taxable excess (\$56,100)). The remaining \$21,100 of taxable excess is taxed at 15 percent, for a total tentative minimum tax of \$4,915.

Under the provision, in computing the alternative minimum tax, \$56,100 is taxed at five percent (the lesser of (i) the taxable excess (\$56,100), (ii) the adjusted net capital gain (\$82,000), or (iii) the excess of the maximum amount taxed at the 10- and 15-percent rates under the regular tax (\$56,800) over the ordinary taxable income (zero)). The tentative minimum tax is \$2,805.

Amendment Related to the Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996

S corporation post-termination transition period.—Shareholders of an S corporation whose status as an S corporation terminates are allowed a period of time after the termination (the post-termination transition period ("PTTP")) to utilize certain of the benefits of S corporation status. The shareholders may claim losses and deductions previously suspended due to lack of stock or debt basis up to the amount of the stock basis as of the last day of the PTTP (sec. 1366(d)). Also, shareholders may receive cash distributions from the corporation during the PTTP that are treated as returns of capital to the extent of any balance in the S corporation's accumulated adjustments account ("AAA") (sec. 1371(e)).

The PTTP generally begins on the day after the last day of the corporation's last tax year as an S corporation and ends on the later of the day which is one year after such last day or the due date for filing the return for such last year as an S corporation (including extensions). Section 1307 of the Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996 added a new 120-day PTTP

following an audit of the corporation that adjusts an S corporation item of income, loss, or deduction arising during the most recent period while the corporation was an S corporation. This provision was enacted to allow the tax-free distribution of any additional income determined in the audit.

As a result of the 1996 legislation, an S corporation shareholder might take the position that an audit adjustment allows the shareholder to utilize suspended losses and deductions in excess of the amount of the audit deficiency. For example, assume that, at the end of the one-year PTTP following the termination of a corporation's S corporation status, a shareholder has \$1 million of suspended losses in the corporation. Later, the shareholder purchases additional stock in the corporation for \$1 million. The corporation's audit determines a \$25,000 increase in the S corporation's income. Although the \$25,000 increase in income would allow \$25,000 of suspended losses to be allowed, the shareholder might take the position that the entire \$1,000,000 of suspended losses could be utilized during the 120-day PTTP following the end of the audit. Similarly, an S corporation that had failed to distribute the entire amount in its AAA during the one-year PTTP following the loss of S corporation status might argue that it could distribute that amount, in addition to the amount determined in the audit, during the 120-day period following the audit.

The provision provides that the 120-day PTTP added by the 1996 Act does not apply for purposes of allowing suspended losses to be deducted (since the increased income determined in the audit can be offset with the losses), and allows tax-free distributions of money by the corporation during the 120-day period only to the extent of any increase in the AAA by reason of adjustments from the audit.

<u>Defined contribution plans</u>.—The Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996 amended section 401(a)(26) (generally requiring that a qualified retirement plan benefit the lesser of 50 employees or 40 percent of the employer's workforce) so that it no longer applies to defined contribution plans. Section 401(a)(26)(C) (which treats employees as benefiting in certain circumstances) was not repealed even though it relates only to defined contribution plans. The provision repeals section 401(a)(26)(C).

Clerical amendments

The conference agreement makes a number of clerical and typographical amendments.

VII. TAX COMPLEXITY ANALYSIS

The following tax complexity analysis is provided pursuant to section 4022(b) of the Internal Revenue Service Reform and Restructuring Act of 1998, which requires the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation (in consultation with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and the Treasury Department) to provide a complexity analysis of tax legislation reported by the House Committee on Ways and Means, the Senate Committee on Finance, or a Conference Report containing tax provisions. The complexity analysis is required to report on the complexity and administrative issues raised by provisions that directly or indirectly amend the Internal Revenue Code and that have widespread applicability to individuals or small businesses. For each such provision identified by the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation, a summary description of the provision is provided along with an estimate of the number and type of affected taxpayers, and a discussion regarding the relevant complexity and administrative issues.

1. Modifications to the child tax credit and earned income credit (secs. 101, 102, 103, and 104 of the conference agreement)

Summary description of provision

The amount of the child credit is increased to \$1,000 for 2005-2009. The conference agreement also accelerates to 2004 the increase in refundability of the child credit to 15 percent of the taxpayer's earned income in excess of \$10,750.

The conference agreement provides that combat pay that is otherwise excluded from gross income under section 112 is treated as earned income which is taken into account in computing taxable income for purposes of calculating the refundable portion of the child credit.

The conference agreement provides that any taxpayer may elect to treat combat pay that is otherwise excluded from gross income under section 112 as earned income for purposes of the earned income credit. This election is available with respect to any taxable year ending after the date of enactment and before January 1, 2006.

All modifications to the child credit and earned income credit under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

Number of affected taxpayers

It is estimated that the provisions will affect approximately 28 million individual tax returns.

Discussion

Individuals should not have to keep additional records due to this provision, nor will additional regulatory guidance be necessary to implement this provision.

2. Standard deduction tax relief (sec. 101 of the conference agreement)

Summary description of provision

The conference agreement accelerates the increase in the basic standard deduction amount for joint returns to twice the basic standard deduction amount for unmarried individual returns effective for 2005-2008. All modifications to the basic standard deduction under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

Number of affected taxpayers

It is estimated that the provision will affect approximately 22 million individual returns.

Discussion

It is not anticipated that individuals will need to keep additional records due to this provision. The higher basic standard deduction should not result in an increase in disputes with the IRS, nor will regulatory guidance be necessary to implement this provision. In addition, the provision should not increase individuals' tax preparation costs.

Some taxpayers who currently itemize deductions may respond to the provision by claiming the increased standard deduction in lieu of itemizing. According to estimates by the staff of the Joint Committee on Taxation, approximately three million individual tax returns will realize greater tax savings from the increased standard deduction than from itemizing their deductions. In addition to the tax savings, such taxpayers will no longer have to file Schedule A to Form 1040 and a significant number of them will no longer need to engage in the record keeping inherent in itemizing below-the-line deductions. Moreover, by claiming the standard deduction, such taxpayers may qualify to use simpler versions of the Form 1040 (i.e., Form 1040EZ or Form 1040A) that are not available to individuals who itemize their deductions. These forms simplify the return preparation process by eliminating from the Form 1040 those items that do not apply to particular taxpayers.

This reduction in complexity and record keeping also may result in a decline in the number of individuals using a tax preparation service or a decline in the cost of using such a service. Furthermore, if the provision results in a taxpayer qualifying to use one of the simpler versions of the Form 1040, the taxpayer may be eligible to file a paperless Federal tax return by telephone. The provision also should reduce the number of disputes between taxpayers and the IRS regarding substantiation of itemized deductions.

3. Expansion of the 15-percent rate bracket (sec. 101 of the conference agreement)

Summary description of provision

The bill accelerates the increase of the size of the 15-percent regular income tax rate bracket for married individuals filing joint returns to twice the width of the 15-percent regular income tax rate bracket for unmarried individual returns effective for 2005-2007. All modifications to the 15-percent rate bracket under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

Number of affected taxpayers

It is estimated that the provision will affect approximately 19 million individual tax returns.

Discussion

It is not anticipated that individuals will need to keep additional records due to this provision. The increased size of the 15-percent regular income tax rate bracket for married individuals filing joint returns should not result in an increase in disputes with the IRS, nor will regulatory guidance be necessary to implement this provision.

4. Ten-percent income tax rate for individuals (sec. 101 of the conference agreement)

Summary description of provision

The conference agreement extends the size of the 10-percent rate bracket through 2010. Specifically, the size of the 10-percent rate bracket for 2005 through 2010 is set at the 2003 level (\$7,000 for single individuals, \$10,000 for heads of households and \$14,000 for married individuals) with annual indexing from 2003. The modifications to the 10-percent rate bracket under the conference agreement are subject to the sunset provision of EGTRRA.

Number of affected taxpayers

It is estimated that the provision will affect approximately 73 million individual tax returns.

Discussion

It is not anticipated that individuals will need to keep additional records due to this provision. It should not result in an increase in disputes with the IRS, nor will regulatory guidance be necessary to implement this provision. In addition, the provision should not increase the tax preparation costs for most individuals. Reductions in the regular income tax as a result of these rate reductions will cause some taxpayers to become subject to the alternative minimum tax.

5. Uniform definition of qualifying child (secs. 201-207 of the conference agreement)

Summary description of provision

The bill creates a uniform definition of qualifying child for purposes of the dependency exemption, child credit, earned income credit, dependent care credit, and head of household filing status. The bill is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004.

Number of affected taxpayers

It is estimated that the provisions will affect over 40 million individual tax returns.

Discussion

Adopting a uniform definition of qualifying child will make it easier for taxpayers to determine whether they qualify for various tax benefits for children and reduce inadvertent errors arising from confusion due to different definitions of qualifying child. The use of a residency test for the uniform definition should be easier to apply than a support test.

The bill will provide simplification to substantial numbers of taxpayers. However, the transition from the present-law system to a uniform definition of child will add temporary complexity from the tax administration perspective. The IRS will be required to modify forms and instructions to implement the uniform definition of child, and taxpayers will be required to learn a new set of rules. There may be confusion for taxpayers who may no longer be eligible to claim a child for certain purposes under the Code. These changes could lead to increased taxpayer errors in filing. In the long run, these effects will be mitigated and the benefits of making the uniform definition will result in less complexity and better tax administration.

ESTIMATED REVENUE EFFECTS OF THE CONFERENCE AGREEMENT FOR H.R. 1308, THE "WORKING FAMILIES TAX RELIEF ACT OF 2004"

Fiscal Years 2005 - 2014

[Millions of Dollars]

Provision	Effective	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2005-09	2005-14
Tax Reduction Provisions													
Extension of Family Tax Provisions:													
a. Extend \$1,000 child tax credit through													
12/31/09	tyba 12/31/04	-2,638	-13,193	-13,198	-13,227	-12,376	-6,942					-54,632	-61,574
 b. Extend marriage penalty relief through 													
12/31/08	tyba 12/31/04	-5,415	-5,412	-3,050	-1,493	-323						-15,693	-15,693
c. Extend 10% bracket through 12/31/10	tyba 12/31/04	-4,262	-6,423	-6,796	-4,330	-3,229	-3,315	-1,006				-25,040	-29,361
Accelerate refundability of child credit to 2004		-1,993										-1,993	-1,993
3. Extend individual AMT relief through 12/31/05	tyba 12/31/04	-9,031	-13,546									-22,577	-22,577
Inclusion of combat pay in earned income for													
purposes of the child tax credit and for purposes													
of earned income credit at taxpayer's election	[1]	-49	-50	-24	-21	-18	-19	-17				-162	-199
Total of Tax Reduction Provisions		-23,388	-38,624	-23,068	-19,071	-15,946	-10,276	-1,023				-120,097	-131,397
Dependency Exemption, the Child Credit, the EIC, the Dependent Care Credit, and Head-of-Household Filing Status	tyba 12/31/04	-84	-206	-209	-218	-225	-229	-183	-75	-75	-76	-942	-1,579
Extension of Certain Expiring Provisions													
1. Extension of the R&E credit (sunset 12/31/05)	epoia 6/30/04	-3.480	-1.986	-936	-678	-390	-90					-7.470	-7.560
2. Parity in the application of certain limits to mental	.,	-,	,									, -	,
health benefits (sunset 12/31/05) [2]	DOE	-4	-43	-10								-57	-57
3. Work opportunity tax credit (sunset 12/31/05)	wpoifibwa 12/31/03	-278	-181	-81	-39	-23	-9	-1				-603	-614
4. Welfare-to-work tax credit (sunset 12/31/05)	wpoifibwa 12/31/03	-35	-39	-28	-14	-7	-4	-1	[3]			-122	-127
5. Qualified zone academy bonds (sunset 12/31/05)	oia 12/31/03	-3	-10	-20	-27	-28	-28	-28	-28	-28	-28	-89	-231
Increase in limit on cover over of rum excise tax revenues (from \$10.50 to \$13.25 per proof													
gallon) to Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands													
(sunset 12/31/05)	abiUSa 12/31/03	-151	-18									-169	-169
7. Extension of enhanced deduction for qualified	abiooa 12/31/03	-101	-10									-103	-103
computer contributions (sunset for taxable years													
beginning after 12/31/05)	cmd tyba 12/31/03	-198	-62									-260	-260
8. Above-the-line deduction for teacher classroom	onia tyba 12/01/00	- 130	-02									-200	-200
expenses capped at \$250 annually (sunset													
12/31/05)	tyba 12/31/03	-227	-192									-419	-419
Expensing of "Brownfields" environmental	-,20 .2000	,	.52									0	
remediation costs (sunset 12/31/05)	epoia 12/31/03	-409	-93	32	38	39	34	30	26	22	20	-394	-261
,	•												

Provision	Effective	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2005-09	2005-14
10. New York Liberty Zone bond provisions [4]:													
a. Extend authority to issue Liberty Zone bonds													
(sunset 12/31/09); add municipal assistance													
corporation to eligible advance refunding bonds	generally 1/1/05	-4	-18	-34	-47	-58	-65	-65	-65	-65	-65	-162	-486
b. Extend authority to issue advance refunding	generally 1/1/03	-4	-10	-54	-47	-30	-03	-03	-03	-03	-03	-102	-400
bonds (sunset 12/31/05)	1/1/05	-6	-15	-16	-15	-12	-10	-8	-6	-4	-2	-64	-93
11. Tax incentives for investment in the District of	1/1/03	-0	-15	-10	-13	-12	-10	-0	-0	-4	-2	-04	-93
	(e)	404	50	40	40	4-7	00	7.4	40	40	07	004	500
Columbia (sunset 12/31/05)	[5]	-161	-56	-18	-12	-17	-62	-74	-42	-42	-37	-264	-522
12. Combined employment tax reporting													
(sunset 12/31/05)	do/a DOE						No Reven	iue Effect					
Treatment of nonrefundable personal credits													
under the individual alternative minimum tax													
(sunset 12/31/05) [6]	tyba 12/31/03	-332	-260									-592	-592
Tax credit for electricity production from wind,													
closed-loop biomass, and poultry litter facilities													
placed in service date (sunset 12/31/05)	fpisa 12/31/03	-44	-75	-97	-111	-127	-139	-144	-149	-151	-126	-454	-1,163
15. Extension of suspension of 100% of taxable	·												
income limit with respect to marginal production													
(through 12/31/05)	tyba 12/31/03	-78	-16									-94	-94
16. Indian employment tax credit (sunset 12/31/05)	1/1/05	-25	-34	-10								-68	-68
17. Accelerated depreciation for business property	17 17 00	20	0.									00	•
on Indian reservation (sunset 12/31/05)	1/1/05	-150	-261	-97	21	71	111	90	48	5	-10	-418	-173
18. Disclosure of tax return information to carry out	1/1/03	-130	-201	-31	21	, ,		30	70	3	-10	-410	-170
administration of income contingent repayment of													
	1/1/05						No Reven	uo Effoot					
student loans (sunset 12/31/05) [7]	1/1/05						No Reven	ue Ellect					
	: 40/04/00	_	4	101	101	[0]	[0]	[0]	[0]			-	,
benefit through 12/31/05)	ppisa 12/31/03	-5	-1	[8]	[8]	[8]	[8]	[8]	[8]			-5	-5
20. Deduction for clean-fuel vehicles (100% benefit		440	4.0		4.0	4.0	_						
through 12/31/05)	ppisa 12/31/03	-119	-16	25	16	12	7	2				-81	-72
21. Disclosures relating to terrorist activities (sunset													
12/31/05):													
 a. Extension of authority to make disclosures 													
regarding terrorist activities	dmo/a DOE						No Reven	ue Effect					
 Technical correction regarding disclosure of 													
taxpayer identity to law enforcement officials													
investigating terrorist activities	[9]						No Reven	ue Effect					
22. Availability of Archer medical savings accounts													
(sunset 12/31/05)	1/1/04					Ne	aliaible Re	evenue Effe	ect				
23. Joint Committee on Taxation report and joint							33						
hearing on IRS strategic plans (sunset 12/31/05)	DOE						No Reven	ue Effect					
Total of Extension of Certain Expiring Provisions		5,709	-3,376	-1,290	-868	-540	-255	-199	-216	-263	-248	-11,785	-12,966
Technical Correction Provisions	DOE						No Pover	uo Effoot					
recinical correction Frovisions	DOE						NO Keven	ue Enect					
ET TOTAL [10]		-29 181	-42 206	-24 567	-20 157	-16.711	-10.760	-1.405	-291	-338	-324	-132,824	-145.942

Joint Committee on Taxation

NOTE: Details may not add to totals due to rounding. Date of enactment is assumed to be October 1, 2004.

[Legend and Footnotes for the Table appear on the following page]

Legend and Footnotes for the Table:

Legend for "Effective" column:

abiUSa = articles brought into the United States after cmd = contributions made during do/a = disclosures on or after dmo/a = disclosures made on or after

DOE = date of enactment epoia = expenditures paid or incurred after fpisa = facilities placed in service after oia = obligations issued after ppisa = property placed in service after tyba = taxable years beginning after wpoifibwa = wages paid or incurred for individuals beginning work after

- [1] For purposes of the child tax credit, effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2003; for purposes of earned income credit at taxpayer's election, effective for taxable years ending after the date of enactment and before January 1, 2006.
- [2] This provision will have a negligible effect on penalty excise tax receipts. However it will have an indirect effect on income tax receipts through increases in employer-contributions for health insurance and corresponding decreases in cash wages. The table shows this indirect revenue effect, which was estimated by the Congressional Budget Office.
- [3] Loss of less than \$500,000.
- [4] The New York City Liberty Zone is defined as all business addresses located on or south of Canal Street, East Broadway (east of its intersection with Canal Street), or Grand Street (east of its intersection with East Broadway) in the Borough of Manhattan, New York, NY.
- [5] Generally effective January 1, 2004, except for the bond provision which is effective for obligations issued after the date of enactment.
- [6] The "Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001" provides that the child tax credit and adoption tax credit are allowed for purposes of the alternative minimum tax for 2002 through 2010.
- [7] Estimate provided by the Congressional Budget Office.
- [8] Gain of less than \$500,000.
- [9] Effective as if included in section 201 of the Victims of Terrorism Tax Relief Act of 2001.

	<u>2005</u>	2006	<u>2007</u>	<u>2008</u>	2009	<u>2010</u>	<u>2011</u>	<u>2012</u>	<u>2013</u>	<u>2014</u>	<u>2005-09</u>	<u>2005-14</u>
[10] Includes the following change in outlays	2,126	4,887	4,531	4,533	4,525	2,905	195	25	26	26	20,602	23,779